Bringing Indigenous Voices to the Workplace

by

Jaydum Hunt

A thesis

presented to the University of Waterloo
 in fulfillment of the
 thesis requirement for the degree of
 Master of Arts
 in

Psychology

Waterloo, Ontario, Canada, 2021

© Jaydum Hunt 2021

Author's declaration

I hereby declare that I am the sole author of this thesis. This is a true copy of the thesis, including any required final revisions, as accepted by my examiners.

I understand that my thesis may be made electronically available to the public.

Abstract

I question how Indigenous identity, relationships, and the workplace environment affect an Indigenous employee's experience in the workplace. I had the pleasure and opportunity of hearing and now sharing the stories of seven Indigenous alumni from the University of Waterloo and Wilfred Laurier University, who live and work in southwestern Ontario.

Research shows that Indigenous employees are unsatisfied, have a high attrition rate, and lack representation within the workplace (Hsiao, Auld & Ma, 2014; Liao, Chuang, & Joshi, 2008; Racine, 2016; Scott, Heathcote & Gruman, 2011). My research aimed to understand the sources of satisfaction and retention for Indigenous employees within the workplace. To do this, I had conversations about their experiences within the organizations that they work.

The themes discussed in the conversations covered cultural identity, workplace relationships, communication, and workplace environment. The first theme surrounding identity comes from my journey surrounding my indigeneity¹, my changing identity, and the impact it has had on my experience throughout life, in school, and within the workplace. The second theme, communication, comes from the understanding that communication is a part of every organizational process and is related to task performance, job satisfaction, and trust. (Adair, Buchan, Chen, & Liu, 2016). The third theme, relationships, is a big part of the workplace experience for both Indigenous and non-Indigenous people (Burgess & Dyer, 2009; Venkataramani, Labianca, & Grosser, 2013). The fourth and final theme, the workplace environment, is taken into consideration as it is another large part of the experience of Indigenous employees within the workplace.

¹ Indigeneity: Indigenousness (Weaver, 2000)

In order to have a full understanding of the experience of an Indigenous employee, it was necessary to use Indigenous research methods. I had four relational conversations with each participant that ranged from 45 minutes to an hour in length and took place in the majority of my participant's workplaces. It was vital that I had a minimum of four conversations to establish a meaningful relationship with my participants. The conversations were recorded, and after speaking with all seven participants, I listened to the recorded conversations, read the transcripts, and created gemstone stories by re-storying what was shared in the conversations with the Indigenous employees.

As I began to listen and re-story what I heard through the conversations, a number of themes emerged. To understand and organize all of these themes, I developed what I am calling the Wholistic Organizational Framework modeled on Kathy Absolon's Wholistic Theory Framework (Absolon, 2010). After placing the themes within the framework, I began to make meaning of everything that came to the surface.

Through hearing the Indigenous employees' experiences in the workplace, as a community member, I am hoping that I can share my findings with organizations to create a positive, supportive workplace experience where Indigenous employees thrive, have a sense of belonging, and know that their voices are being heard. As an Indigenous scholar, I hope to contribute to decolonizing, restoring, and revitalizing Indigenous research methods.

Acknowledgments

First, I thank the creator for giving me the strength to get through this process, and I thank my Gemstones for sharing their voices, and their stories with me. I thank my children and family for their understanding and support during this process.

I am grateful to the original caretakers of this land in which my family can currently live and work upon, and I would like to acknowledge the people who lived in this territory before colonization. The traditional territory of the Attawandaron, Anishinabek, and Haudenosaunee peoples. The Haldimand Tract is a landmass that encompasses 6 miles on each side of the Grand River.

Next, I thank Lori Campbell for encouraging me to apply to the Master's program in Industrial-Organizational Psychology, because graduate school was never on my radar. I am eternally grateful for Lori's mentorship, guidance, and friendship throughout my Master's experience. I am thankful for my supervisor Wendi Adair, who made space for Indigenous² research within the IO Psychology department, and would like to acknowledge support from the Indigenous Workways project. I am eternally grateful to my friend Kathy Absolon for the guidance of my thesis, and for working with me in a supervisory position. I would like to acknowledge Darren Thomas, who gave guidance at the beginning of my journey as a Master's student and shared knowledge of Indigenous Psychology. I am thankful to Susan Roy for the various projects that we have worked on together, and for taking the time to be my second reader.

² Indigenous, Aboriginal, and Native is used throughout this thesis to refer to First Nation, Metis, and Inuit people in Canada.

My personal support network has been there for me over the past three years from the start to the finish of this project in various capacities. Nya:weh to Anika Sehgal, Amber Shilling, Heather George, Amy Shawanda, Leah Conner, Kelsey Hewitt. I would also like to acknowledge the Waterloo Indigenous Student Centre that has supported my journey to develop and strengthen my Indigeneity. Lastly, I would like to thank the Two-row research partnership group for hearing my research project, and giving feedback that I could carry forward in my work.

Dedication

I dedicate this work to all living and non-living beings

To all my relations

To my daughters and all the children to take on this wild world

Table of Contents

Author's declaration	ii
Abstract	iii
Acknowledgments	v
Dedication	vii
1.0 Introduction	1
2.0 Situating myself in the research	3
3.0 Canada's dark history	8
4.0 Employment and Indigenous peoples	10
5.0 Identity	13
5.1 Indigenous identity	13
5.2 Workplace Identity	14
5.3 Identity conflict in the Workplace	15
6.0 Relationships	17
6.1 Sense of belonging and connectedness	17
6.2 Communication	18
7.0 Workplace Environment	20
7.1 Identity-related spaces	20
8.0 Methods	21
8.1 Indigenous research methods	21
8.2 Difference between positivist paradigm and Indigenous paradigm	22
8.3 Relational Conversations	24
8.3.1 Relational conversation format	25
8.3.2 Difference between relational conversations and semi-structured interviews	28
8.4 Participants	29
8.5 Indigenous Storywork	31
8.6 Making Meaning (Analysis of Data)	32
8.7 Wholistic Organizational Framework	34
9.0 Re-storying (Findings)	38
9.1 Participant voices shared as gemstone stories	38
9.1.1 Turquoise's story	39
9.1.2 Lapis Lazuli's story	43

9.1.3 Mookaite's story	49
9.1.4 Sunstone's story	53
9.1.5 Onyx's story	57
9.1.6 Amethyst's story	62
9.1.7 Hematite's Story:	68
10.0 Discussion	72
10.1 Identity	72
10.1.1 Reclaiming culture	73
10.1.2 Identity Conflict/Walking in two worlds	75
10.2 Relationships	78
10.2.1 Sense of belonging and connectedness	80
10.3 Workplace environment	81
10.3.1 Personal physical space	82
10.4 Organizational Culture	83
10.4.1 Wholistic organizational culture	84
10.4.1.1 People before profit.	84
10.4.2 Transactional organizational culture	85
10.4.2.1 Feelings of Tokenism	86
11.0 Conclusion	88
11.1 Limitations/Lessons	88
11.1.1 Sample size	88
11.1.2 Findings are not generalizable	88
11.2 Recommendations and Future Directions	89
11.2.1 Truth and Reconciliation recommendations	89
11.2.2 History lesson for all non-Indigenous employees	90
11.2.3 Strengthening culture to increase workplace satisfaction	90
11.2.4 Creating identity spaces	91
11.3 Implications	92
References	93

1.0 Introduction

Work is an essential component of life and can promote well-being or it can lead to suffering. It plays a fundamental role in the lives of people and communities, and it contributes to the overall social and economic welfare of people (Marshall, Stewart, Popadiuk, & Lawrence 2012). In other words, work is a necessary component of life that can either uplift people or bring them down; it also contributes meaning and identity to our lives (Amundson, 2006).

In this thesis, I bring the voices of seven Indigenous employees to organizational scholars and practitioners and to Indigenous student centers to broaden our understanding of employee well-being, satisfaction, and engagement for this underrepresented minority group. I explore the reasons that research shows low job satisfaction, high turnover rate, and a lack of representation of Indigenous peoples in the workplace (Hsiao, Auld, & Ma, 2014; Liao, Chuang, & Joshi, 2008; Racine, 2016; Scott et al., 2011). My research questions address these issues at the individual and interpersonal level, but I also ask what is taking place at the organizational level that is causing this experience for Indigenous employees.

The overall purpose and goal of this research is to contribute to creating psychologically safe workspaces for Indigenous employees and to amplify their stories that give insight into Indigenous employee experiences in the workplace. Historically Indigenous voices have been marginalized and silenced (Kovach, 2010), and Indigenous peoples are underrepresented in organizations and are recognized in Employment Equity Legislation as one of four disadvantaged groups in the Canadian workforce (McPhee, Julien, Miller, & Wright, 2017). This research aims to amplify and allow space for Indigenous voices within the workplace. An awareness of the long-term impact and effect of colonization on Indigenous people is finally

being explored, and it is of utmost importance that we explore how it has impacted Indigenous people in the workplace here in Canada.

During this research process, I had the opportunity to hear firsthand about Indigenous employee experiences using the Indigenous research method of relational conversations to speak with Indigenous alumni. The themes explored during our conversations included identity, interpersonal relationships, and workplace environment. I found a number of encompassing themes that emerged as I listened to each of the conversations that will be shared throughout the thesis.

My research asks how Indigenous employees' cultural identity, interpersonal relationships, and workplace environment influence their experiences in the workplace. The purpose of this research is to find out about the work experiences of Indigenous employees to identify marginalizing barriers and replace these with cultures of safety and trust.

A few objectives of this research are to contribute to decolonizing, restoring, and revitalizing Indigenous research methods, and informing future research for organizations to create a positive, supportive workplace experience where Indigenous employees thrive, have a sense of belonging, and know that their voices are being heard.

2.0 Situating myself in the research

My interest in researching Indigenous employees in the workplace stems from my desire to understand why some Indigenous people I have met, share that they do not feel a sense of belonging, trust, or overall satisfaction within their workplaces. According to Indigenous scholars, with Indigenous inquiry, my first task is to understand and situate myself within my research. Situating myself means positioning myself in relation to the research. (Kovach, 2010; Wilson, 2008; Absolon, 2011).

I am Mohawk Bay of Quinte from Six Nations and Scottish on my father's side and German and Irish on my mother's side. My mother was twenty years old when I was born on August 4, 1985, in Cambridge, Ontario. My mother left my father when I was a year old, and began a relationship with a very abusive man. This man threatened to kill my mother and her family if she did not move to Alberta with him, so of course, we moved, and this was the last time I would see my father. For the first six years of my life, I lived in trauma, witnessing the physical and emotional abuse of my mother. We were homeless and lived in various shelters.

It was not until I was sixteen years old that we moved back to Ontario, and I had never seen or heard from my father for all those years. I felt that he did not want me, no birthday cards, no phone calls, and my mom did not even have a picture. I remember calling every S. Burrell in the phonebook to locate him, but I was unsuccessful. After gathering some funds from tree planting, I planned to get a private detective to find my father. Before I had a chance to do that, at 23 years old, two investigators came to my house to tell me that my father had died by suicide and he had left me as his beneficiary.

This left me very confused, sad, and angry, because I never had the chance to meet him, and I never would. Not long after he died I saw a picture of him. I felt a lot of sadness and anger

around the whole situation and legally changed my name from Brittany Alexander Hunt Burrell to Jaydum Hunt. The names both Brittany and Burrell were names that were given by my father, and in my anger, I changed them.

At that point in my life, I knew I had Indigenous ancestry that came from my father, but I knew nothing about what it meant to be Indigenous. My mother raised me with a Western Eurocentric³ lens, and it was not until I was 27 years old that I began to learn about the history of Indigenous people in Canada through my post-secondary education. As I was learning about the residential school system, I also learned from family that my great-great-grandmother had lived at the Mohawk Institute⁴ in Brantford.

This is when I began to question what it meant to be Indigenous. The narrative I carried forward throughout my life was that because I did not have a status card it meant I was not Indigenous. That somehow if I did not have this card I was unable to engage in the culture and could not claim my indigeneity. I became aware of self-identifying at 27 years old in post-secondary. This led me to an ongoing journey of self-discovery that has changed my life for the better.

As victims of colonization, many Indigenous people share a similar story to mine, in which they are self-identifying and rediscovering who they are. At the same time, "there is a growing movement to identify and call-out people who have fraudulently held positions by claiming indigeneity like Cheyanne Turions, Joseph Boyden, Michelle Latimer, and Bourassa. The fraudulent claims of indigeneity are so widespread that the term 'pretendians' has become part of regular vocabulary" (Simon, 2021).

³ Eurocentric: As a theory, it postulates the superiority of Europeans over non-Europeans (Battiste, 2000).

⁴ Mohawk Institute: First residential school system in Canada

For myself, and other Indigenous people on this journey of discovering and developing their indigeneity, it is this identity policing that causes a lot of anxiety. It had me questioning whether I should be self-identifying when I am 1/16 Kanien'kehá:ka⁵ and even brought me as far as applying for status. Regardless of the outcome of the decision of the Government of Canada, I consider myself Kanien'kehá:ka, but I do worry about how all of this identity policing is affecting other Indigenous people who share a similar story to mine.

My story is not unique, with many other Indigenous people discovering their Indigeneity later in life. As I mentioned above, it was not until 27 years old that I began to formulate my Indigenous identity, and first began within the Waterloo Indigenous Student Centre (WISC) at St. Paul's University College. I quickly became involved in every activity, event, and initiative that was being offered by the WISC and I began attending ceremonies whenever it was possible. I made my own drum and moccasins. I received my spirit name and colours. I learned to hand drum songs and was part of the creation of the Blue Sky Singers, a singing group of Indigenous women from the Kitchener-Waterloo area. I also attended events across the campus to provide territorial acknowledgments and openings. I immersed myself in the Indigenous campus community as well as the local urban Indigenous KW community. I first came to the centre in 2013/2014 and over the past 7/8 years, I have learned much about my community and myself as a Mohawk woman.

I have come to understand that the name Mohawk was given by the Algonquin nation and that the true name is Kanien'kehá:ka or people of the flint (Britannica, 2021). Flint is a form of quartz. This resonated with me so deeply, because for years I always had a deep connection with

5

_

⁵ Kanien'kehá:ka: Mohawk people

rocks and gems. Of course, all nations and races of people can and do have this same connection, especially as the new age era begins to take over. However, as I carried this deep connection throughout my life, I did at times question it. As a little girl, before I had explored my Indigeneity I had always been fascinated with rocks and gems. Over time, I became more familiar with the unique properties, energies, and characteristics that every crystal and stone carried. Throughout my house, I have various piles, and I use them in my massage therapy practice as tools to facilitate healing. As my awareness and strength of my Indigeneity have grown, I do question whether being a person of the flint has anything to do with it or not. Regardless, I carry this deep connection with rocks and gemstones throughout my research journey.

I situate myself as someone who is on a continuous discovery of relationship building, rediscovering and revitalizing Indigenous research methods. I am constantly learning and adding to my repertoire of knowledge in the hopes that the research I am undertaking will help all of my relations. As my knowledge base surrounding my own Indigeneity and Indigeneity as a whole has developed, I have become stronger as a Kanien'kehá:ka woman. I identify with the Indigenous worldview in relation to living a wholistic life: including mind, body, relationships, and spirit. I use the "w" for wholistic to represent wholeness; as in, complete, circular, and full (Absolon, 2016), and I intend to apply this wholistic way of living to break down the barriers of colonialism within organizations.

As a result, in this research I questioned whether having a strong sense of Indigeneity bolsters someone's experience in the workplace, or whether this could cause someone to feel even more alienated. Given my experience being raised without my Indigeneity, rediscovering it later in life, and developing a strong and resilient sense of self, I considered this larger impact of

identity on experiences in the workplace. I also questioned the experiences of interpersonal relationships and the relationship of place and space for Indigenous employees. This was largely in response to my own experiences at the University of Waterloo and the positive impact that the Waterloo Indigenous Student Centre and the people contributed to my overall experience at the university.

Universities were not built to include Indigenous people, and neither were many organizations that are now diversifying. I truly hope that through listening to these voices we can recommend changes that create satisfaction, psychological safety, longevity, and a higher representation within organizations and institutions in Canada. When employees' identities are not acknowledged or are in conflict, they experience low satisfaction, burnout, and high turnover intentions (Racine, 2016; Thatcher, 2019). It is essential that we hear the voices of Indigenous employees in the workplace so that we have a clear understanding of what contributes to a sense of belonging, satisfaction and overall positive productivity in the workplace.

3.0 Canada's dark history

For Indigenous peoples in Canada, the first encounter with European explorers marked the beginning of colonization and is considered the foundation for the realities of Indigenous peoples today (MacDonald & Steenbeek, 2015; Stephens, Porter, Nettleton, & Willis, 2006). Since the time of contact, colonizers have directed a restructuring of who Indigenous peoples are and how they live their lives (Kirmayer, Brass, & Tait, 2000). In order to exert control over Indigenous peoples, the federal and provincial governments implemented policies that still exist today to assimilate Indigenous peoples. An example of one such policy is the Indian Act, in which the Canadian federal law governs all matters pertaining to Indians including who is and is not an Indian.

The systematic assimilation strategies to eradicate Indigenous peoples and their way of life are demonstrated through the implementation of the Indian Residential School System (IRSS), funded by the federal government of Canada and managed by the various church denominations (Dussault, 1991; MacDonald, 2015; TRC, 2015). There were over 150,000 children forcefully separated from their parents to break their culture and identity, aligned with the colonial agenda to eliminate Indigenous peoples as a distinct group of people (Czyzewski, 2011; Dussault, 1991; TRC, 2015).

The pervasive attempts of assimilating Indigenous peoples into mainstream Canadian Christian society stripped Indigenous peoples of their ways of knowing and being, inherently destroying their identities. It is part of the long history of assimilation policies intended to terminate the distinctiveness of Indigenous peoples by absorbing them into mainstream Canadian life and values (Bartlett, 1977). It has caused unfavorable social, economic, and political

outcomes that intersect generations and continue to disadvantage Indigenous peoples even today in all areas of life, including employment (Wien, 2009).

Indigenous populations have been faced with immense social suffering due to the loss of cultures and identities as a result of the forced displacement from territorial homelands and government mandates of assimilation such as the residential school system (Barker, Goodman, DeBeck, 2017). It is this unique dark history of Indigenous people in Canada which makes them different from other racialized minority groups. Employers and researchers often take the history of Indigenous people for granted, and few have wholistically examined Indigenous people in the workplace using Indigenous ways of being and knowing.

4.0 Employment and Indigenous peoples

There is research surrounding Indigenous people in the workplace, but it often focuses on the Indigenous person, and takes a deficits approach without actually connecting with Indigenous people in a meaningful way to hear their side of the story. There is a great deal of evidence to support the statement that Indigenous peoples are marginalized in the workforce. (Julien, Somerville & Brant, 2017; Adair et al, 2017). With this research, I consciously chose to take a strengths based approach and focus on what it is that made an Indigenous employee's experience safe, supported, and overall satisfactory.

Indigenous peoples in Canada increasingly represent a potential source of human capital for Canadian employers. They are the fastest-growing segment of Canada's population and there were approximately one million aboriginal people of working age in 2017 (Luffman & Sussman, 2007). Despite all of that, Indigenous people continue to have lower employment rates, shorter rates of employment and fewer positions in knowledge, entrepreneurial, and service-producing sectors than non-Indigenous employees do (Bougie, Kelly-Scott, & Arriagada, 2013; Moyser, 2017). Recent studies like these shed light on systemic racism, which previous studies had not addressed. It is evident through the research that race is one of the barriers to education, employment, and income attainment for Indigenous peoples. High-skill, high-pay employment continues to be reserved for the most privileged in Canada (Newby, McKinnon, Kuyken, Gilbody & Dalgleish, 2015).

To address the complex truth about the history of Indigenous peoples in Canada and the ongoing legacy of the church-run residential schools, the Truth and Reconciliation Commission (TRC) encouraged those impacted directly or indirectly to share their stories and experiences.

They gathered an estimated 7,000 testimonies from residential school survivors across Canada in

an effort to promote knowledge among Canadians regarding the truth of colonial history (TRC, 2015). The truth and reconciliation commission (TRC) of Canada was created in response to the largest class action in Canadian history. In summary, the commission gathered the stories of former students of the residential schools and came up with 10 principles of reconciliation, and 94 calls to action. In June of 2015, the TRC shared the final report outlining 94 Calls to Action to advance the process of reconciliation. Call to Action #92 is for the business sector and specifically asks corporate Canada to adopt the United Nations Declaration of rights of Indigenous peoples (UNDRIP, 2007) as a reconciliation framework:

- i) We call upon the corporate sector in Canada to adopt the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples as a reconciliation framework and to apply its principles, norms, and standards to corporate policy and core operational activities involving Indigenous peoples and their lands and resources
- ii) Ensure that Aboriginal peoples have equitable access to jobs, training, and education opportunities in the corporate sector and that Aboriginal communities gain long-term sustainable benefits from economic development projects.
- iii) Asks that businesses provide education for management and staff on the history of Indigenous peoples (UNDRIP, 2007)

The UNDRIP is the framework for reconciliation for all sectors of Canadian society, and it represents the minimum standard for survival, dignity and well-being for Indigenous peoples. The first article states, "Indigenous peoples have the right to the full employment, as a collective or as individuals, of all human rights and fundamental freedoms as recognized in the Charter of

the United Nations, the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and international human rights law" (UNDRIP, 2007).

The TRC and UNDRIP are beginning steps of trying to repair the damage that has been done to Indigenous people across Canada. The identity of our people was destroyed through the colonization of Canada, and it is unlikely that it will ever be repaired.

5.0 Identity

On my own journey of understanding and continuing to develop my identity, I am highly aware of the layers of complexity that are present when it comes to being an Indigenous person in Canada. In this section, I will discuss Indigenous identity, workplace identity, and discuss the complexity surrounding identity conflict that has been shared through the research surrounding

5.1 Indigenous identity

There is little agreement on how to measure Indigenous identity, and who truly has it. Shawn Wilson (2008) states that Identity for Indigenous peoples is grounded in relationships and that we are the relationships that we hold and are a part of. I can agree with Shawn Wilson that relationships are a part of identity, but I also take into consideration the restrictions on Canadian Indigenous identity created hundreds of years ago with the purpose of assimilation in mind.

Although the agenda to destroy Indigenous people did not succeed, the complexities surrounding identity still exist and deeply affect individuals in communities today. This is one part of what makes Indigenous identity complex and multifaceted in Canada, that the Indian Registrar is the only legal measure of Indigenous identity accepted by the government. Legally, Indigenous identity remains to be determined by the government through the Indian Act (1967) in the form of being status Indian. It was this dominant narrative of having to get status from the Indian Registrar that had me not identify as Indigenous for the first 27 years of my life. This is not unique to my experience, as I do hear it echoed throughout other Indigenous communities as well. Although blood quantum does not exist here, the Indian Act is the colonial decision maker controlling who is Indigenous or not.

Maria Brave Heart and Lemyra DeBruyn in the American Indian Holocaust (1998), share that the impacts of colonialism are seen within every facet of society through the erasure of

culture, ways of being, and the identities of Indigenous peoples. In Canada, beyond the legal Indigenous identity controlled by the Indian Act, a number of Indigenous individuals self-identify as Indigenous in a way that is not dependent on the colonial narrative (Nakata, 2007). Self-identifying is when an individual self-reports their Aboriginal identity (Oldford & Ungerleider, 2011). In other words, a third party is not needed to validate someone's Indigenous identity. Regardless of whether one self-identifies or has status, an individual's cultural identity is not the same.

Cultural identity occurs over the lifespan and is a conscious process and decision that involves being a part of a cultural group. A person's cultural identity is formed through interactions with these groups, and of course, the family and community in which one is raised heavily influences one's cultural identity (Oldford & Ungerleider, 2011; Weaver, 2001).

5.2 Workplace Identity

The workplace is where people spend a large percentage of their waking hours and a workplace identity is formed and fostered. According to Sherry Thatcher and Xiumei Zhu (2006) in their article on changing identities in a changing workplace, identity-based approaches have become more common for understanding how the psychological aspects of work have real consequences for organizations and employees. Identification with an organization is seen as the psychological glue that unites the goals of the employees with the goals of the organization. Within this framework, the way to sustain and strengthen the organizational identity is through worker satisfaction. Organizations that can promote a balance of organization-related identities and other related identities may be able to effectively align the goals of the employee with the productivity goals of the organization (Thatcher & Zhu, 2006).

For this research project, both Indigenous-led and non-Indigenous-led organizations were included. Some, not all, Indigenous-led organizations carry Indigenous values and ways of being, and often take a wholistic perspective when accounting for their employees. An organizational identity for their employees might be characterized by a regular check-in, open communication, and a team based, non-hierarchical approach. They consider their employee's entire being; body, mind, spirit, and emotions. On the other hand, non-Indigenous-led organizations, which I will call mainstream organizations, have a workplace culture deeply rooted in the western Eurocentric way of knowing through implementing colonial policies, programs, and procedures. An organizational identity for their employees might include characteristics such as profit over people, lack of communication, and a hierarchical approach. When Indigenous employees are working in mainstream organizations, they may have an identity conflict if they have strong Indigenous values.

5.3 Identity conflict in the Workplace

In their paper, Indigenous perspectives on work-life (2017), Mark Julien, Karen Somerville, and Jennifer Brant aimed to gain insights on how to provide support for Indigenous employees. They used a qualitative research method, conducted interviews with 56 Indigenous people across Canada, and used a thematic analysis to analyze the data. Their research shows that the struggle to acclimatize to mainstream organizations has resulted in Indigenous peoples having to embrace core identity characteristics that they do not identify with, and in many cases has resulted in either assimilating into or exiting the organization. Their stories that they share are about Indigenous people who have had to adapt to mainstream organizations to be successful within the workplace. This has undermined key aspects of Indigenous peoples' core cultural identity characteristics and has typically resulted in them departing from the organization.

Many mainstream organizations are structured around a colonial framework in which the social norms follow western values as opposed to Indigenous ones. Social norms powerfully affect individual behaviour, promoting conformity to group values and expectations (Hirsh & Kang, 2016). For example, in western cultures the focus is on the self and they prize strength and independence. Where as, in Indigenous cultures, the focus is on the community and collaboration and they prize humbleness and interdependence. The research shows that many Indigenous people have had to adhere to the social norms and to adapt to the ways of being, knowing, and doing in mainstream organizations to be successful. This has undermined key aspects of Indigenous peoples' cultural identity (Markus & Kitayama, 1991; Julien et al, 2017).

Conflict between aboriginal identity and organizational identity might occur. Within organizations, there is often a dominant culture and members of the organization are pushed to accept that organizational identity. However, when social identity through organizational membership is unsatisfactory, members attempt to withdraw by reducing psychological commitment, increasing absences, or increasing turnover. Minority members within larger organizations do not achieve organizational identification because of the differentiation between their own identity and the organizational identity, and as a result withdraw from the organization (Liao, Chuang & Joshi, 2008; McPhee, Julien, Miller, & Wright, 2016). With little support for employees to be who they truly are, it was not long after my conversations that two of the alumni left their place of employment for many of the reasons outlined throughout this thesis, the most obvious piece being identity conflict.

6.0 Relationships

Relationships are foundational to the human experience and our sense of well-being and mental health. We have relationships with our family, friends, co-workers, and possibly even the people that we get our coffee from each day. Relationships are foundational to the lives of Indigenous people, and we believe that we have relationship with all things. In this section, I am focusing on a sense of belonging and interpersonal communication because they are highly valued across traditional and Indigenous cultures.

6.1 Sense of belonging and connectedness

Sense of belonging is a fundamental human emotional need to have a feeling of security and support as an accepted member of a group. Human beings have an intrinsic desire to belong, and this need to live collectively or belong to a group generates identity and social reference. All people feel the need to belong, and is the greatest reason to form groups, communities, and societies (Baumeister &Leary, 1995; Cohen, 1982; Escalera-Reyes, 2020, Catapan, Peter, & Peter, 2015). If an employee does not feel that they belong or do not align with the values of their workplace, then their well-being is compromised, and this can have a negative impact on the overall productivity of the workplace, and has been linked to negative psychological outcomes across many domains that affect health and well-being (Hirsh & Kang, 2016).

Connectedness is represented by involvement, as well as comfort and sense of well-being, described as an individual feels themselves to be an integral part of the system and are actively involved with people, groups, or the environment. (Hagerty, Lynch-Sauer, Patusky, & Bouwsema, 1993; Hagerty et al, 1992). It is essential that all Indigenous employees have a sense of connectedness to continue to establish a sense of well-being.

There is "extensive evidence that indicates that employee well-being has a significant impact on the performance and survival of organizations (Grant, Christianson, & Price, 2018)." If an Indigenous employee does not feel as though they belong or that they do not align with the values of their workplace, then both employee well-being and organizational performance are compromised. This can have a profound impact on one's sense of belonging within an organization.. In organizational contexts, identification with an organization, department, or team tends to promote positive organizational outcomes in the form of job satisfaction, well-being, and productivity (Greenaway et al, 2016).

6.2 Communication

Communication is woven into every organizational process, and effective communication in the workplace setting is important. It is related to task performance, job satisfaction, trust, and even organizational performance. Today in Canada, with the diverse multicultural workplace climate, if misunderstandings and conflict are not handled, communication challenges may arise (Baker, 2007).

With diversity within organizations increasing, communication strategies that promote both integration and equality within the workplace are essential (Allen, 2017). When it comes to workplace communication, it is important to look at the cross-cultural differences between Indigenous and non-Indigenous employees. There is also a wide variation in communication styles amongst Indigenous people, but what is common practice amongst most Indigenous people is reciprocity and active listening (Wilson, 2008).

According to Baker (2007), effective communication can be viewed as the foundation of modern organizations, and is foundational to workplace productivity and overall success. It happens on various platforms: through meetings, face-to-face discussions, memos, letters,

emails, and reports, and takes place on multiple levels. Of course, communication challenges vary, but communication is important to create positive workplace experiences and workplace satisfaction at the individual level, and organizational functioning and success at the organizational level.

7.0 Workplace Environment

Organizational space is an umbrella concept seen throughout the literature that includes, space, place, region, surroundings and locale, built environment, workspace environments, buildings, and private/public spaces (Taylor & Spicer, 2007). Although the workplace environment varies drastically from organization to organization, the physical spaces people inhabit have a profound impact on their psychological experience (Greenaway, Thai, Haslam, & Murphy, 2016), and the current literature states that employee well-being is directly associated with the physical workplace environment (Uolamo & Ropo, 2015).

7.1 Identity related spaces

Enriched workspaces enhance organizational performance particularly when people are able to live out their identity within the space, and identity-related meaning of spaces has an impact on well-being and performance. People become territorial over space – namely because this reflects an extension of themselves and their social identities. Just as spaces can affirm identities of some people, they can also challenge and threaten identities of others. Identity-related enrichment of office space improves productivity (Greenaway et al, 2016; Knight & Haslam, 2010; Nieuwenhuis, Knight, Postmes & Haslam, 2014).

8.0 Methods

8.1 Indigenous research methods

Over the past several years, there have been Indigenous scholars emerging and contributing to the knowledge base of Indigenous methodologies (Wilson, 2004; Duran & Duran, 2000; Kovach, 2008; Smith, 1999; Wilson, 2008). Because of this emergence, Indigenous scholars are employing Indigenous research methods in their research. Maori scholar Linda Tuhiwai Smith (1999) states in her book Decolonizing Methodologies, "that the term 'research' is inextricably linked to European imperialism and colonialism. The word itself, 'research,' is probably one of the dirtiest words in the Indigenous world's vocabulary." Historically, outsiders have conducted research on Indigenous peoples as opposed to in collaboration with them, and have largely done whatever they wanted when it comes to the data.

This has led Indigenous people to be largely skeptical when it comes to participating in research. Ethical research must start replacing Eurocentric⁶ prejudice with new properties that value diversity and universality. In the academic context, most researchers do not reflect upon the difference between the Eurocentric and Indigenous knowledge systems (Battiste, 2000). However, things are slowly changing and as Indigenous people, many are reclaiming and creating knowledge systems and research methods. Indigenous people have created a narrative that says nothing about us, without us, where the message is that Indigenous people need to be the lead on anything Indigenous.

⁶ Eurocentric: Worldview centred on Western civilization or a biased view that favours it over non-Western civilizations (Battiste, 2000).

8.2 Difference between positivist paradigm and Indigenous paradigm

A research paradigm includes ontology, epistemology, and axiology. A positivist paradigm dominates most conventional research today and asserts that only scientific knowledge can reveal the truth about reality (Tuck & Mackenzie, 2015). However, the Indigenous research paradigm is revealing truth and reality for Indigenous people, and is making its way into the Academy. I will now break down the differences between the positivist and Indigenous research paradigm.

When comparing the two paradigms, it is apparent that the positivist approach does not have access to the holistic and relational process that are foundational to the Indigenous paradigm. Ontology is the understanding of being/reality - what is real? With the positivist paradigm, it is believed that there is one truth or reality, whereas in the Indigenous paradigm, reality is relational and holistic. Epistemology is the understanding of knowledge - how do I know what is real? With the positivist paradigm, knowledge is based on observable, verifiable experiences, whereas the Indigenous paradigm mentions knowledge is holistic, cyclical, and relational. It is not just mental, but physical and emotional. Axiology is the understanding of ethics and values. With the positivist paradigm, knowledge is objective and value free, whereas Indigenous peoples believe that knowledge and values are one in the same.

Table 1 Compares and contrasts the Indigenous paradigm with the traditional positivist paradigm, and further explains why it is important that Indigenous research be utilized in field research with Indigenous peoples.

Table 1 (Tuck, McKenzie, 2015)

Paradigm	Positivist	Indigenous
Ontology (What is	There is one truth or	Reality is relational and holistic
real?)	reality	
Epistemology (How	Knowledge is based on	Knowledge is holistic, cyclical, and
do I know what is	observable verifiable	relational. Knowledge is not just mental,
real?)	experiences	but physical, emotional, and spiritual
Axiology	Knowledge is objective	Knowledge and values are one in the same
(Understanding of	and value free	
ethics/values)		
Methods frequently	Quantitative (e.g.	Storywork, relational conversations,
used	Surveys)	mappings and remappings
	Qualitative (Interviews)	

8.3 Relational Conversations

The relational conversation method is rooted in characteristics that align with Indigenous research methodologies, modeled on the work of Margaret Kovach (2010) and Shawn Wilson (2008). I employed the relational conversation method for my data collection, and I knew each one of my participants, but in different capacities. Getting together for the first time provided some awkward moments as I got used to recording our conversations and just letting the conversation flow naturally.

Aligning with Indigenous worldviews, gathering and transferring knowledge through oral narratives is part of the foundation of this relational conversational method. (Barton, 2004; Kovach, 2010; Wilson, 2008). It was through the sharing of stories that I was able to develop meaningful relationship, and really hear the stories. The relational conversation method takes a (w)holistic approach by honoring and incorporating the values of the five R's: respect, relevance, reciprocity, responsibility, and relationships (Tessaro, Restoule, Gaviria, Flessa, Lindeman & Scully-Stewart, 2018; Kirkness & Barnhardt, 2001).

In the context of the relational conversations, each one of the five R's applies to the researcher and participant. Respect is shared when the researcher and participant both acknowledge their interdependence, where the researcher and participant acknowledge and accept each other's lived experiences and truths. When the researcher and participant share knowledge and contribute to the conversation, relevance is experienced. Both the researcher and participant experience reciprocity as they exchange information and learn from each other. Naturally and gradually over time trust develops and responsibility is established, and in turn relationships are established. There is attention to the whole person and connectedness between the researcher, participant, and all relations.

There is a power balance and non-hierarchical nature of relational conversations, which was an intentional dismantling of the hierarchy within the research process. Both the participant and the researcher have equal power and share their truths. This equality is essential to developing a reciprocal relationship and reduces the psychological distance between the researcher and participant, which makes the relationship stronger. Both researcher and participant listen and learn from each other and they build upon the ideas and knowledge shared during their time together. Their relationality exists within the physical and psychological space between them.

The conversations were open-ended and had guiding questions that helped loosely direct the co-creation of knowledge between the researcher and the participant. This relational conversation method focuses on the depth of the relationship and the ability of the researcher and participant to share their knowledge in a collaborative and comfortable manner. Through this process, power is given back to Indigenous people and their communities.

8.3.1 Relational conversation format

I would like to acknowledge that the format of this method is modelled on the thorough work of Indigenous scholars Margaret Kovach and Shawn Wilson. In this section, I will outline the relational conversation format that I used for my research project. The diagram below is a quick snapshot of the format of the relational conversations that I used to answer my research question.



The order of the conversations were set up to build upon one another. The first meeting focused on introductions and getting to know each other. This is the most basic conversation that opens up the doorway to start developing a relationship with the individual. The second meeting focused on experiences at work and stories surrounding employment. The third meeting built upon the other two, with the intention of reaching the depth needed to share information that is more personal. This conversation emphasized cultural identity within and outside of the workplace. The last meeting focused on debriefing and closing the conversation.

Although this formula was put forth as a structure to follow throughout the relational conversation procedure, it is important to remember that flexibility within this process is essential. There are no hard and fast rules, and allowing things to unfold as organically as possible lends to the nature of this Indigenous research method. I will now go into more detail about the guiding questions, and more in depth procedure of the relational conversations for this research question.

During the first conversation, I offered the participants tobacco to ask them to share their stories, we then smudged if we were able, and then instead of giving a consent form to sign, I offered oral consent so they could sign the form without having to read into the tiny details.

Through the consent process, I also ask the participants if I can record our conversations, transcribe them, and make meaning from their stories. The theme within this first meeting was about getting to know each other. The three guiding questions for this conversation were 1. Tell me about your experience at the University of Waterloo/Wilfrid Laurier University?; 2. When you were a student here were you aware of the Waterloo Indigenous Student Centre?; 3. How did your experiences at Waterloo influence your subsequent work or career path? If I did not know the person very well this conversation was about breaking the ice, developing a comfort between the participant, and myself so that we could talk, and sharing with one another so we could get a general sense of each other's energy and begin the journey of building relationship.

In the second conversation we discussed identity and how Indigenous employees felt about their cultural identity and their Indigeneity. We talked about whether their Indigeneity affected their experience at work. The theme within this conversation was identity. The three guiding questions for this conversation were: 1. What does your Indigeneity mean to you?; 2. How does your Indigeneity influence your interactions and relationships at work?; 3. How does your Indigeneity impact your experiences at work?

The third conversation was about interpersonal relationships at work, communication, trust, and the workplace environment. These are the three guiding questions for the third conversation. 1. As an Indigenous person, how would you describe communication in your workplace? a. Have there been times when you experienced misunderstanding (others didn't understand what you said or you didn't understand what others said?) b. Have you felt that your communication style is different from your non-Indigenous counterparts? (Can you give an example?) 2. How would you describe your relationships with others in your organization? a. Have you experienced conflict at work and can you tell me about it? b. Do you have a trusting

relationship with anyone at work? Who? Why do you feel there is trust between you? 3. Tell me about your relationship to your work environment, for example the place and space around you.

a. Are there any spaces inside or out where you feel a connection to your Indigeneity? b. Are there any spaces that you do not feel comfortable in specifically because of being Indigenous?

To tie it all together we had a final conversation during which they were able to provide feedback about their experience of the research process. The guiding questions for the final conversation were: 1. Are there any changes that you would like to make to your transcript?; 2. Is there anything that came to you later and that you think should be included? 3. Is there anything that you would like to share about how this experience felt for you?

After determining the relational conversation format, and outlining the guiding questions for the conversations, I thought it was important to outline the difference between relational conversations and semi-structured interviews.

8.3.2 Difference between relational conversations and semi-structured interviews

Several key points distinguish relational conversations from the semi-structured interview widely used in qualitative research. Multiple conversations are needed to build relational trust. With the semi-structured interviews, the researcher holds the power, whereas in the relational conversation both the participant and the researcher have equal power. With the semi-structured interview, only the participant is sharing their truth, whereas within the relational conversation, both researcher and participant share their truths. When it comes to questions, within the semi-structured interview they are generally organized around pre-determined open-ended questions; as where the relational conversation has guiding questions that do not necessarily need to be asked if the answers present themselves throughout the conversation. The relational conversation

takes a holistic approach, and includes four conversations, split up into four different visits that are explained in the section above.

Table 2: Differences between semi-structured interviews and relational conversations

Differences	Semi-Structured Interview	Relational Conversation
Number of conversations	One session	Multiple to build trust
Power in the session	Held by the researcher	Equal power
Who is sharing their truth	Participant	Researcher and participant
Questions	Pre-determined open-ended questions	Guiding questions

After the format of the relational conversations was determined, and the guiding questions were outlined for my research project, ethics were submitted and approved, and it was time to recruit participants.

8.4 Participants

According to Shawn Wilson (2008) in his book, Research is Ceremony, conversations build trust and relational accountability, with an emphasis on the importance of relationships. Considering this, when I received the potential participant list of Indigenous alumni from the Waterloo Indigenous Student Centre and Wilfred Laurier University, it seemed logical to seek out participants from the list that I had a previous acquaintance with.

First, I would like to acknowledge that the Kitchener-Waterloo urban Indigenous community and the academic Indigenous communities in southwestern Ontario are quite small, which means that everyone knows everyone. Although confidentiality is not a necessary

component in Indigenous methods, I still wanted to protect the identity of my participants and assign them pseudo-names. Sensitive information was shared through the relational conversations with me and so I modified the personal information of my participants to provide confidentiality. Confidentiality and anonymity are ethical practices created to protect the privacy of participants throughout the research process (Allen, 2017).

My deep connection with gemstones has informed how I situate myself in relation to this research. it seemed natural to give each participant a gemstone name. Given the depth of time and space that I had spent with each participant, I chose their gemstone name based on their personality properties that I had come to know through my time with them. Below I share the voices of my participants through gemstone stories.

I reached out to participants that I had a previous acquaintance with through email with an outline of my research project, gave an overview of the study, explained how I intended for the research process to unfold, and waited to hear back about participating in the study. I received responses intermittently and arranged to meet with each person on their terms. Once I had all seven participants confirmed, I contacted each participant to see what made sense for their schedule, and I began to book the first meeting in person. I travelled to where they were to meet them for the conversations. I was able to connect with most of my participants in their actual workspace, and I would spend anywhere from 45-75 minutes with each participant in person for each conversation.

The journey of sharing relationship and conversation with my participants transformed the way that I connected with them as people. Each person shared so much in-depth knowledge that moved beyond the scope of my research questions. The time shared together was extremely meaningful, and I am forever grateful to those who chose to take time to share their story with

me. In gathering stories about the experiences of Indigenous peoples in the workplace, I experienced more than I could have anticipated. The relationship building, sharing, learning, and listening that took place throughout our time together is what has informed these findings. To them I say, Niá:wen Miigwech for the time taken out to share with me, and to contribute to the future of workplaces and youth.

8.5 Indigenous Storywork

As a method, storywork provides the data in detailed and first-hand accounts in which to gain insight (Archibald, 2020). Story methodology is about decolonizing research that will become a part of the social and historical fabric for generations to come. The story is not unique to Indigenous knowledge systems and as a method is used differently from culture to culture. However, storywork gives voice to the marginalized and creates outcomes that are in line with the community. I chose to use storywork methodology to develop my gemstone stories based on the storywork principles of Jo-Anne Archibald (2008), and they are "Respect, Responsibility, Reverence, Reciprocity, Holism, Interrelatedness, and Synergy"

As the researcher on this project, I have taken on the responsibility of ensuring the voice and representation within the gemstones stories are accurate, and done in a good way. After the completion of writing their stories, I gave my gemstones the opportunity to review, suggest changes and approve what I wrote. In doing this, there is an energy exchange between myself and the participant, and taking on the responsibility to ensure an accurate representation of what they shared within our conversations about their workplace experiences. As the storyteller, I shared the truth of the gemstone voices as I heard them (Kovach, 2010).

Grounded within a relationship-based approach to research, trust, and accountability are critical for the story to surface and for the relationships to form through the storytelling.

(Kovach, 2010; Wilson, 2008). It was through the process of having relational conversations with my participants that trust and accountability were created and how I developed meaningful moments with them that the stories came to the surface.

8.6 Making Meaning (Analysis of Data)

This process was not an easy one; it was multifaceted and complex. As an emerging scholar, I had never done anything like it before. Kathy Absolon says in her book Kaandossiwin that "Indigenous re-search methodologies cultivate organic processes, emerge naturally, and are unplanned and unpredictable" (Kathy Absolon, 2011, p 89). This quote, along with other Indigenous scholars helped keep me grounded through the unpredictable process of making meaning.

Interpreting, making meaning, and writing the stories took place over the past two years. It took a large amount of time for two main reasons. One of them was the COVID-19 pandemic where my two children were home with me in isolation for several months, which made it hard to write. The other reason was that I had to determine how to approach this process to fit within the constraints of the Academy, while also staying true to myself and what I know about Indigenous research methodologies.

I recognized as time passed during the pandemic how it was fundamental to connect with other scholars who have used Indigenous research methods during the making meaning process. There are endless friends and other scholars, who were a part of my meaning-making journey. I cannot list them all in this part of the paper, but the Director of the Waterloo Indigenous Student Centre Lori Campbell, Dr. Kathy Absolon, Dr. Amber Shilling and Dr. Amy Shawanda were four close friends and Indigenous scholars who were there for me to reflect, process, make meaning, and ultimately get everything down on paper throughout the whole process. Another

close friend, PhD candidate and Indigenous scholar, Heather George introduced me to the Two Row Research Partnership group from Six Nations Polytechnic, where I was able to participate in a monthly meeting with both Indigenous and non-Indigenous scholars to present my research, gather feedback, and receive and provide support.

The start of the making meaning process was when I began listening to the conversations I had with participants and reading their transcripts. I had the pleasure of listening to and processing the stories of my participants. After a lot of thought, I decided that I wanted to capture their stories in their fullness, and decided that I would make meaning by listening to conversations one to four for each participant in turn. This allowed me to have a wholistic understanding of each individual story that I had heard. Since they were all captured at different moments in time, listening to all four conversations participant-by-participant provided an understanding of what I heard them share around identity, relationships, and workplace environment.

When I began the meaning-making process, I did not have a framework in which I had planned to analyze my data once collected. As a result, as I listened and read the transcripts I began writing emerging themes from the conversations on sticky notes, and there were more than I imagined. This was when I questioned how I was going to take the themes and make sense of what I had heard. I connected with my supervisors and it was brought to my attention that I needed a framework to organize the themes that had emerged. With the help of my supervisors and modelled on Kathy Absolon's Wholistic Theory Framework based on the medicine wheel teachings and applied to the earth's structure, as gemstones are found in different layers of the earth's strata, I developed my framework.

8.7 Wholistic Organizational Framework

For many Indigenous nations, the circle is a sacred symbol that appears throughout everyday life in the form of the sun, the moon, the earth, and so much more. On a functional level when Indigenous people gather in circles it elicits connection, relationship building, and self-development (Gagnon, 2011; Pranis et al, 2003).

Kathy Absolon (1993) states that the goal of the paper Indigenous Wholistic Theory is to present a knowledge set that can be used to guide further practice for the purposes of wholistic assessment. She writes, and I quote, "that Indigenous wholistic theory is whole, ecological, cyclical and relational. The Medicine Wheel, Four Directions and Circles have been used as an effective and appropriate means for developing healing strategies. The concentric circles represents a level of being and illustrates the reciprocal interconnections of self, individual, family, community, nation, society and creation. At the centre is a tiny circle representing the Self. The next circle represents family, then the community, then the nation, society and outward to the ecology of creation" (Absolon, 2010).



The Wholistic Organizational Framework was modelled on Kathy Absolon's (2010) Indigenous Wholistic Theory, and was created to facilitate knowledge production and understanding to improve the lives of Indigenous people in all organizations. This framework can be used to facilitate future research around employee experiences in the workplace. The framework I developed to make meaning of the data mimics the earth's structure to represent the organizational structure, and focuses on the layers within the organization that are considered to have meaning for Indigenous people within the context of the workplace.

Through examining the external forces embedded within the organizational structure that contribute to that experience, there may be an opportunity to get a comprehensive representation of the components that indirectly or directly affect an Indigenous individuals experience within an organization.

Within the centre of the earth, we have the individual, and every time that an individual is within the organization, the different layers within the organization affect them and vice versa. When modeling this framework on the medicine wheel, I recognized that the self was at the centre. In the east direction, I see identity, beginning, history, and spirituality. The inner core of the earth represents the self, and all of the elements that come with the east. In the south direction, I see relationships, kinship systems, community, elders, and protocols. The outer core represents workplace relationships, with theoretical elements of relationships, emotions, community, and elders and all that comes with the south. In the west direction, I see the mental, respect, reasons and Indigenous knowings. The crust represents the organizational culture within the workplace, with theoretical elements of the mind and all that comes with the west. In the north direction, I see the physical, collective work. The mantle represents the physical workplace environment, with the theoretical elements being body, place, and space. (Absolon, 1993). As I worked through developing this framework, a theory that I learned about in sociology in my undergrad came to mind.

Bronfenbrenner's Ecological Systems Theory looks at a child's development within the context of the system of relationships that form their environment. This theory defines the "layers" of environment, and how each layer has an effect on the child's development. Changes or conflict in one later will ripple throughout other layers. Bronfenbrenner's structure of environment consists of the microsystem, mesosystem, exosystem, macrosystem, and chronosystem. The microsystem is the layer closet to the child, and encompasses relationships and interactions in their immediate surroundings, for example their family, school, or neighbourhood. The mesosystem is the layer that provides the connection between the structures of the child's microsystem, for example: the connection between the child's teacher and his

parents. The exosystem defines the larger social system in which the child does not function directly, for example parent workplace schedules. The macrosystem layer may be considered the outer most later of the child's environment, for example cultural values, customs, and laws. The chronosystem is the system that encompasses the dimensions of time as it relates to a child's environment, for example externally a parents death or internally the physiological changes as they get older.

In exploring and remembering the Bronfenbrenners Ecological Systems Theory, I simultaneously remember how much I love it. I also came to recognize that my wholistic organizational framework draws some parallels and synchronicities within its presentation to his systems theory. The findings from this research project have been organized within the Wholistic Organizational Framework and re-storied to gain an understanding of Indigenous employee experiences in the workplace.

9.0 Re-storying (Findings)

Important and beautiful information was shared through each one of my conversations with my participants. However, not all of it applied to the research questions. While I was working through re-storying what my participants had shared through our relational conversations, I kept the Wholistic Organizational Framework in mind. This section offers a thorough presentation of the findings through the gemstone stories organized within the Wholistic Organizational Framework.

9.1 Participant voices shared as gemstone stories

While still providing a deep and meaningful connection with the participants, I have assigned names of gemstones to each person I had conversations with. These names were assigned based upon the personal characteristics of the participant aligning with properties of the crystal. The gemstone voices that I share in this thesis are Amethyst, Lapis Lazuli, Turquoise, Sunstone, Hematite, Onyx, and Mookaite. The gemstone stories share the voices of my participants through re-storying what I heard in the relational conversations. Each gemstone will be introduced, and I will share the qualities and properties that informed the gemstone name that I assigned to them.

I share these Indigenous employee stories through a similar outline as the relational conversations. I will go into detail about who they are as an individual, their workplace identity, workplace relationships, organizational culture, and workplace environment. In alignment with the principles of OCAP and Indigenous ways of knowing, my gemstones were given the opportunity to review their stories and make changes where necessary (Kovach, 2010; Absolon; 2011).

9.1.1 Turquoise's story

"I really like this topic and what you're doing because I think other Indigenous professionals, I've talked to them and it's been a recurring theme. I feel like the themes you discuss in terms of identity, workplace. This is all things I discuss with other people like business people and at the end it will be this entire venting session centered on all these topics and it's effecting a lot of people (Turquoise, 2019)."

I would like to introduce Turquoise. This gemstone represents compassion, communication, and self-acceptance. These characteristics were evident in the way that they shared their journey and the life changing decisions they embraced through the need to contribute. They developed an awareness that they were not fulfilling their life's purpose in their workplace and decided to make a change.

This gemstone identifies as African-Jamaican and Irish-Algonquin. They were not raised with their Indigeneity, but as they have developed and discovered it, they have found that it has provided a more grounded and connected experience in life. Within their immediate family, they were the first to explore their Indigenous roots, and the desire to learn about their heritage [or ancestry] influenced other family members. Given that their Indigeneity was developed later in life, they do question whether it represents a cultivated cultural identity or whether it is something that is inherently who they are. They experienced internalized shame around being raised in the city as opposed to on the reserve and they feel the need to validate their Indigeneity to other people in and outside of the workplace.

In relation to the workplace, they have held an account manager position over the past three years at a financial institution. On the floor where they physically work, they are the only Indigenous person or person of colour. As such, they explained to me that their co-workers and higher-ups burden them with questions about Indigenous-related perspectives or insights. They

are often pigeonholed⁷ as the Indigenous person, with their organization highlighting that they are a "specialized Indigenous banker," but not providing support for the role.

This individual is passionate about helping build Indigenous communities and teaching new skills, beyond making profits. "This is viscerally, this is a part of, this is the kind of work that would charge me up on my daily duties and make my daily duties more effective. It's hard to recognize that setting the time aside for that, if I have to come in late or do extra time, just to set aside two extra hours every once a month, every few months. Huge in terms of brand awareness but also in terms of employee satisfaction. And absolutely critical, because all those fit the line with my own development goals. There's no extra money for them" (Turquoise, 2019). This gemstone mentioned how community and connectivity were essential to them — connecting with coworkers and relationship building were one of their gifts.

Turquoise is great at connecting with people of all ages and backgrounds and they do not place people on pedestals. They experienced relationships on three levels: superiors, co-workers, and clients. These relationships varied within the levels, but every relationship that existed affected this gemstone's workplace experience. Turquoise valued relationships and believed that building meaningful relationships takes time. However, they did feel isolation and tension around being the only Black/Indigenous person on their team. They felt people had a hard time connecting with them because of their background and being a person of colour.

It was the determination and dedication around relationship building and community that kept this gemstone connected with other people within the workplace. "I would be very intentional about, at least once a day, walking around the entire office and just saying hello

⁷ Pigeonholed: To be assigned to everything relating to being Indigenous

because you would literally go weeks without seeing people on the same floor or your team because you come into the office and you go straight to your office. You're busy all day, your phone's flying it's so easy to go weeks and you're meters away from people and you won't speak to them. So I literally set aside time and that would be my breaks" (Turquoise, 2019). They made a concerted effort to connect with co-workers on their floor and they believed that it was their open, flexible, and adaptable way of being that made for great relationships. For example, they used their five-minute breaks to walk around the office and be in contact with people, they picked up the phone or talked in person instead of sending emails, they went for lunch with co-workers, and they became head of the social committee.

As the head of the social committee, Turquoise focused on building relationships amongst co-workers and creating a more community-oriented environment was a large part of what they contributed to the organization. They went into the organization thinking that everyone would have base training on Indigenous perspectives and worldviews, but they found that few people knew anything outside of a specialized team. Initially, they also anticipated pursuing opportunities to help the surrounding Indigenous community, but this was not something that came easily. It took three months of pushing to deliver financial literacy training to Indigenous community members. They also found themselves going to counseling to talk about the complexities of the workplace because they did not feel they could talk openly with superiors. This insecurity developed around an awareness that the organization's goals outweighed any of the Indigenous focused goals that Turquoise had been excited to participate in.

Communication is an extremely important part of relationship building for Turquoise.

They are a very direct, open, and vulnerable communicator who cultivates trust between themselves and others by being open and having meaningful conversations. "I think the

communication between myself and my manager got into a really strong and healthy point. That was a lot of stepping out and calling on...and asking for certain things and asking for the space to do that, the space to communicate. Sharing and being open and vulnerable, when a lot of my colleagues weren't open to do that like; yo that's your manager, why would you do that? Open and vulnerable? That's your job, that's not something you should be with your manager. Well no, this is a huge part of my life, I want it to be like a fulfilling part, let's be open and vulnerable about this and the areas this is affecting. So that cultivated a lot of trust between myself and my manager" (Turquoise, 2019). This gemstone steps out of their comfort zone, which helps others do the same, and the reciprocal exchange deepens the relationships that they have cultivated through their ways of being.

When Turquoise described the physical environment in which they worked, it was described as a rigid environment. The offices that surrounded the perimeter were for higher-up positions and the cubicles in the middle were for the support roles. The offices had fogged windows and doors, and the physical organization of the floor in which Turquoise worked did not foster communication and connectivity in the office. It was common for people to come into work, go straight to their office, and use emails as their main form of communication amongst each other. Turquoise had an office and found that they had to reach out to connect with coworkers and preferred person-to-person interactions. "I made my little office my safe space and my sanctuary. I had my own food, I had vegetables, I had a morning routine that I would do in the morning at work. I had many plants, photos of family and friends, space to stretch, rolling pad. I had a foam roller in my office. Yeah so, I had a great relationship with my office but then some other offices, work piled up and papers everywhere and just like, de-crowded." (Turquoise, 2019). They noted that the employees stationed in the cubicles in the centre of the space would

connect and bond more than the individuals who had separate offices. In line with the rigid physical environment, Turquoise mentioned the formal dress requirement every day caused them to step into an organizational persona that did not match who they truly were as a person.

The organizational culture was described as linear, inflexible, and unsupportive. This gemstone shared a story about a co-worker who developed carpal-tunnel syndrome, which prevented her from continuing her work within the organization. This employee had to take a leave of absence, and when they were injured and away from work, no one from the organization checked in to see how she was doing. They replaced her with someone who could continue to finish the tasks within her job description. This showed Turquoise how replaceable they were as employees within the organization.

9.1.2 Lapis Lazuli's story

"I did the speech and of course the boys started making fun of me, calling me a squaw and doing that wahoo, you know, that call. And I'm like; wow that didn't really serve me very well and now they're making fun of me. So it was grade six when I started not to identify and decided not to tell anybody that I'm Native because they would make fun of me. And because of the way I look and I can pass as white that's what I did (Lapis Lazuli, 2019)"

I would like to introduce Lapis Lazuli. This gemstone represents self-awareness, self-expression and a deep self-knowledge. I recognized this in the way that they expressed all the layers that are tied to their life and work. The depth of awareness and knowledge around the self was present throughout all conversations and the way they shared their story. Lapis Lazuli talked about recognizing the importance of owning their truth, morals, and values and feeling empowered to share and stay true to them. They acknowledged that they are authentic and accountable, and that was hard for people in their organization to accept.

This gemstone identifies as Oneida-European. While in grade three they began to connect who they were as a Native child. Their father told them that they were Native, and to be proud, but beyond that they did not know what it meant to be Indigenous. It was their father's story that helped them form a better understanding of their own identity. Their father was visibly Indigenous and was part of the Sixties Scoop⁸ and was adopted out of his community as a child. It was painfully shared that he was placed in over fifty foster homes during his childhood. It was within these foster homes that he was taught that being Native was something to be ashamed of. Lapis mentioned that they had been discovering and developing their Indigeneity at the same time as their father and that this process has been a bonding experience. That being said, in grade six Lapis experienced racism relating to their Indigeneity and because they were white-passing; which means that based on their physical features, others perceive them as a white person, they began to hide their identity as an Indigenous person, and no longer self-identified.

Throughout their life, Lapis Lazuli has walked in two worlds—which they referred to as "walking the tight rope" — not belonging in either the Indigenous or the non-Indigenous world. As a result, they would live in limbo switching between these identities when it made sense. It was after completing their Masters in Social Work (the Indigenous field of study program) at Wilfrid Laurier University that they more deeply explored and gained clarity of their Indigenous roots. They spoke to the constant evolution of their identity as they learned, shared, and gathered more knowledge. At the point that I spoke with Lapis Lazuli, they mentioned that they are completely confident and comfortable in their Indigeneity.

_

⁸ Sixties Scoop: describes a period in Aboriginal history in Canada in which thousands of Aboriginal children were removed from birth families and placed in non-Aboriginal environments (Sinclair, 2007)

Lapis Lazuli has been in their position for eleven years and only three of those years have been full-time. The position started out as an eight-month contract, expanded to a three-year contract, then became a one-year contract each year for a total of five years before it was turned into a full-time position only three years ago. They feel a lot of pressure as the only Indigenous person, with an Indigenous title, dedicated to an Indigenous portfolio. "After eleven years, well it will be eleven years at the end of this month. So over the years I've been trying to advocate for more staff, like you can't carry a system in a direction on your own. It's just impossible. So for years I've been advocating for more staff. Which when I was signed the consultants I was like; yes, at least I was assigned some people (Lapis Lazuli, 2019).

Lapis believes that their Indigeneity influences the way that they see the world, and feels that they do see things differently than their non-Indigenous co-workers. Lapis expressed that because they work within a colonial structure they can be influenced by the majority and are pulled into the linear way of thinking and being. Lapis Lazuli feels as though they operate differently than the vast majority of people working within their organization, because of their Indigeneity. They also shared that there is a lack of Indigenous voices and even a lack of their voice because of the structure and orientation of the organization. Many of Lapis Lazuli's co-workers are agreeable. Lapis speaks about how they choose to be strategic and choose which battles to fight, so as not to be seen as the disagreeable Indigenous person. When they are looking to make changes, they have to frame it as "good for all" (Lapis Lazuli, 2019), because if it is Indigenous-specific, it will get turned down. Lapis Lazuli talked of colonial fatigue, which they said a friend loosely coined as feeling tired as an Indigenous worker in a mainstream organization, being a spokesperson for Indigenous issues, having a lack of support to fulfill job requirements, and a lack of resourcing support for Indigenous programming. Lapis also brought

awareness to the fact that within their workplace, there is no room for tending to the spiritual side of the self.

In regards to relationships within the workplace, Lapis Lazuli can easily make connections with all people at different levels within the organization. However, they only have close relationships with a few people in their workplace. This gemstone sees many of the connections within the organization as an important part of being able to fulfill their Indigenous portfolio responsibilities. There are individuals who they referred to as allies that help to amplify their voice, and contribute to bringing importance to the Indigenous portfolio on their own accord. For Lapis Lazuli, trust exists with a few of their workplace relationships, but it developed over the years and did not come easily. One of those trusting relationships is with another racialized person who does equity work. Lapis Lazuli talked about feeling supported, and validated by this colleague. This is because in certain situations, Lapis is able to vent about what is happening, and the colleague automatically understands. Lapis had a positive relationship with their direct supervisor. With a slow start, this relationship developed into an important one over many years. This supervisor has allowed Lapis to have agency when it comes to the Indigenous profile, which has contributed to the trusting relationship between them. "So he gets a little bit of understanding and I love him, he's amazing and he's an amazing support, he allows me to do my work, he's not a micro-manager. Which is a really great trait in a leader" (Lapis Lazuli, 2019). Lapis Lazuli specifically mentioned that reciprocal relationships are important in this work. That trust developed with co-workers who had shown the willingness to do the work and focus on Indigenous initiatives within and outside of the workplace.

Communication in the workplace is something that varies depending on which level they are talking to within the hierarchical organization. Lapis Lazuli talked about the need to adapt the

presentation of themselves to enhance the comfort of others, in hopes of receiving equal treatment and opportunities for advancement. Lapis shares that "you have to play the game a little bit. So I know the long term change takes a lot more time. So it's about building those relationships, it's all about relationship building and helping them come around to their own understanding so there at the point where they're asking; but it's just a matter of holding back because I want to pick the right times where my voice can be really heard rather than just saying things all the time. (Lapis Lazuli, 2019).

Lapis Lazuli expressed that they are very thoughtful in their communication, as opposed to assertive or aggressive (which is the way they described some of their coworkers), and they are less likely to speak out, and more likely to sit back, take everything in, and give thought to a situation. Lapis mentioned that communication is important to the decolonizing work, and that they approach things mindfully. They communicate in a way that all the other non-Indigenous people will hear, so that their defense mechanisms do not go up, and they can still fulfill the agenda. Conflict has taken place between Lapis Lazuli and some of their co-workers, because of a lack of understanding and fear surrounding Indigenous practices. "So yeah, there's been lots of instances where I have communicated something and it's been completely misinterpreted or misread" (Lapis Lazuli, 2019).

The physical workplace environment that Lapis Lazuli works in is a large industrial-sized building with several offices surrounding the perimeter of the floor space, and cubicles within the opened area in the centre. Lapis appreciates that they have their own office instead of having a cubicle. They like the fact that they can close the door of their office, and have their own space makes them have a sense of comfort and safety. Lapis Lazuli has their dreamcatcher, drum, smudge bowl, several Indigenous authored books, and artwork. They cannot smudge in their

space as much as they would like to because it is not usually planned, so this makes it hard for Lapis to smudge as often as they would like to. "I've smudged and there's nothing saying I can't- I don't because I'm aware of how it might affect other people. Which is then hampering my identity as an Indigenous person because I'm thinking about how it's going to affect other people, right?" (Lapis Lazuli, 2019).

Lapis Lazuli has "been really conscious about not releasing a procedure or policy around smudging. As soon as we have it written down people are like; alright this is the letter of the law, this is how it must be done, and there's no other way. Because there are some people like that and they just like to follow the rules" (Lapis Lazuli, 2019). There is not one space within the organization that Lapis Lazuli feels completely comfortable in her Indigeneity. They explain, "I can say without a doubt, there isn't a place...in this institution...that I feel completely comfortable, confident, and safe to be who I am as an Indigenous person with an Indigenous lens" (Lapis Lazuli, 2019).

The organization is structured in a systematic and linear way that breeds power, privilege, and white fragility⁹, and the majority of people who work there align with this and see nothing wrong. Lapis Lazuli stated that it is a colonial structure, with a lack of a diverse lens, "we work within a colonial structure and our processes are colonial, which isn't doing much in relation with the Indigenous community" (Lapis Lazuli, 2019). Lapis Lazuli finds that people who do not experience the detriments of colonization do not understand it, and those people have to be convinced to care about the Indigenous portfolio. The one conflict that she has had an ongoing experience with is, "co-workers in the organization not understanding why Indigenous education

-

⁹ White fragility: White fragility refers to a broad range of responses—often in the form of guilt, excuses, dismissal, or anger—white people may have in reaction to discussions on racism.

is important. People will literally come out and say; I'm not sure why we're putting so much emphasis on Indigenous education" (Lapis Lazuli, 2019). The organization is opening their mind to equity and inclusion, but this gemstone is fighting for the Indigenous portfolio to be separate. There are no racialized people at the top of the hierarchy within the organization, and they are doing some work on power and privilege, but it is an ongoing process.

Lapis Lazuli carries forward an intentional mindset when working within this organization. This gemstone keeps their long term goals in mind and recognizes that at times keeping their thoughts to themselves is just as important as knowing when to share their thoughts. Lapis is passionate about their Indigenous portfolio; however, they lack support to fulfill their job requirements, do not feel valued as an employee, and are overworked with tasks that could be spread amongst at least three Indigenous portfolios.

9.1.3 Mookaite's story

"Your personal life has an impact on your work life, your work life has an impact on your personal life. So if you're not able to acknowledge that in both areas then it's not going to work. That's why I think I love working here because they acknowledge the interconnectedness of life" (Mookaite, 2019).

I would like to introduce the gemstone Mookaite. The properties of this gemstone are strength, kindness and grounding. This gemstone had a humble and kind nature, which provided a welcoming environment to share a conversation. Throughout the conversation and sharing that took place during my time with Mookaite, it was apparent that they had a sense of strength and knowing that they could overcome any obstacle in life. They carried their genuine strength and grounding nature to help other people do the same in their lives.

Mookaite identifies as Cree, was born in Saskatchewan and raised through the foster care system for a number of years until they were adopted into a mainstream white middle-class

family as a young girl. It was not until they were eight or nine years old realized they were Indigenous. As a result, they were not raised with their ancestors' teachings or any sense of their Indigeneity, and it was not until they were in their early twenties in college, when they went to Indigenous Primary Health Care Council (IPHCC)¹⁰ that they began to explore and acknowledge their Indigenous identity. Mookaite believes cultural programming that contributed to the beginning of their identity development in the IPHCC program, and now Mookaite gets joy observing those engaging in cultural programming through their workplace on their healing journey. Mookaite mentions that their identity is their roots and culture and that it influences who they are and how they interact with others in the world. Identity affects how they even want their children to be raised.

Mookaite finished their BA, and decided to do their Masters in Social Work, in the Indigenous field of study at Wilfrid Laurier University. Self and identity were more explored and developed through the wholistic healing in the program, which helped them to provide better support for their clients. Mookaite is a firm believer that the reason that things unfolded the way they did in their life was so that they could help other people.

Mookaite is in a supervisory position, and supports individuals experiencing family violence in a shelter setting. They have been working in their position for the past four years, and absolutely love it! Mookaite really loves their position within their workplace, and a big part of that has to do with the organization modeling the importance of living a wholistic life.

¹⁰ The IPHCC is an Indigenous-governed culture-based and Indigenous informed organization that supports the advancement and evolution of Indigenous primary heath care services provision and planning throughout Ontario (IPHCC, 2021).

Mookaite made it very clear through the conversations that their relationships within the workplace are extremely important to them, and that relationship building is essential. As managers and supervisors, they ensure that they have a positive relationship with each other, and with the staff. Within the organization, there was genuine care and relationship between all people on the team. There was an awareness and an acknowledgment of the impact that personal life has on work-life and vice versa.

When it comes to communication, Mookaite shares that "we want to keep those open lines of communication healthy as well as - like even right now I just hired someone on that worked here five years ago. So we want to make sure there's that ongoing healthy relationship if they've decided to move onto a different thing or if they decided they wanted to go over and work with addiction, cause that's my passion, I want to keep that healthy open communication, healthy closure" (Mookaite, 2019). Equally, Mookaite and other managers met on a regular basis, and communication was open and reciprocal. Mookaite meets with everyone individually once a month and meets weekly with their own supervisors. Mookaite shared that working in an Indigenous led organization, with all Indigenous management, and as an Indigenous person, allows them to be who they are.

The organization where Mookaite works is located on a reserve in a large building. In the shelter where Mookaite works, they mention that they feel connected with the rest of the shelter based on the location of their office being right in the shelter, and believes it is important. Mookaite feels as though if they were distanced physically from the people that they work with, there would be a disconnect. Mookaite prefers to be physically close to the families, and staff that they supervise. Mookaite talked about how when they first got their office, the person prior to them had nothing on the walls; and they have made their office very personalized.

The organizational culture within the Indigenous led organization where Mookaite works shares the values of relationality, reciprocity, and an overall caring and importance are placed upon all working relationships. Conflicts are dealt with right away, and whenever anyone leaves the organization, as a team, they do closure. Heathy closure is to talk with the employee about what went well, what did not go well, and what could be improved. There is a bit of a hierarchy within Mookite's workplace, but they try to dismantle it as much as possible. Mookaite talked about needing to acknowledge that there is a hierarchy and knowing their roles, but also trying their best to stay away from a hierarchical way of living. Mookaite explained that the environment of the organization works in is very flexible, and is centered on their clientele. "It's a different environment here where I've found, a lot of other places that I've worked at vary; here's our rules, here's our guidelines, and here's what it is. It was very; stay inside this box. Where here within my current workplace, we are very flexible, like even here are our guidelines, but we are very flexible, but we're very flexible within those. We are flexible with how we work with our clientele, with our hours – we try and have a movement centered on our clientele" (Mookaite, 2019).

Mookaite shared that within their workplace; managers carve out one hour for each employee monthly for a self-care check-in, but Mookaite also had an opened door policy. "I was just hiring staff and as a part of our list, it's just us looking through, but what's your personal wellness plan? Is a part of our orientation — what is your personal wellness plan? They don't have to disclose everything but just enough so we're like; oh okay. Then we can pick up some of the support if needed" (Mookaite, 2019). It was essential that transparency was there, and that they were able to connect and feel comfortable enough to share anything that may be burdensome,

celebratory, saddening, and anything else that might impact their ability to be present within their workplace.

9.1.4 Sunstone's story

"I'm privileged as a white passing, mixed Indigenous person, I will be upfront about that in every conversation I have. That I totally recognize my privilege and my experiences have been privileged by the fact that I'm white passing. So having these conversations with my family and my brothers still like; I don't feel like its right for me to identify" (Sunstone, 2019).

I would like to introduce Sunstone. This gemstone is a joyful stone because it reflects the qualities of light. This person is open, warm, kind, and brings about a willingness to give joy and happiness to others. I saw this in the way that this gemstone interacted with me in the conversations as a bubbly and positive person. Even though they were in a disappointing workplace experience in retail services as a cashier—they were able to maintain the energy that Sunstone brings—within and outside of their workplace.

This gemstone identifies as Algonquin First Nation and European. They were born and raised in Waterloo and they mentioned that they will never have status under the Indian Act. However, Sunstone mentioned that they felt a need for the external validation that one gets from having status. When speaking of their Indigeneity journey, they explained that their Auntie was the first person in their family to learn more about their Indigenous ancestry and share it with the rest of the family. They mentioned that their immediate family members started reconnecting and rediscovering because of the importance Sunstone found with their Indigeneity. The internalized shame around not being "Indigenous enough" was real for Sunstone when it came to going to Waterloo Indigenous Student Centre (WISC), and was a part what prevented them from going to the WISC in the beginning. However, they ended up going and spoke of it like a second home. It

¹¹If one is non-status under the Indian act they are self-identifying as Indigenous

was at the student centre that they had many of their first experiences on their Indigeneity journey.

Sunstone holds an art history and visual arts degree and when it comes to the workplace, they have been in this position for the past two years. They were initially brought into this position as a researcher for a four-month contract. The job then shifted from researching Indigenous art to a retail services position that was now going on for over two years.

Sunstone spoke of two different levels: superiors and coworkers. This gemstone's coworkers have a lot of respect for them and work hard not to tokenize them. Trust was experienced between this gemstone and their coworkers. There were, however, many conflicts with the supervisor and multiple employees, so in times of conflict when there was a lot of upheaval, Sunstone mentioned that they all rallied together to support each other. Sunstone said that there was no team building with the people that worked there, but they did mention that they were close with the front-end staff and that they all get along. They are actually close because they are friends, who have "bitched, ranted, and bonded" (Sunstone, 2019). with each other around problems with the supervisor.

"I'd say that the communication between coworkers is excellent. The communication between the superiors and the coworkers is awful" (Sunstone, 2019). There are more board members¹² than employees within this workplace, so that goes to show how there is such a low number of people working there. At times Sunstone feels like their Indigeneity is used by higher ups to show that there is an Indigenous person on staff. When it comes to situations that are

-

¹² Board Members: Citizen boards of directors

uncomfortable for Sunstone, they remove themselves. They do not take the responsibility of educating others within their workplace about the history of Indigenous peoples.

When it comes to communicating with others, Sunstone communicates with their hands. They are an emotional, honest, authentic, and transparent communicator who does not like to be fake or pretend to be someone to get what they want. "I think I'm more honest and authentic, I really hate schmoozing, you know. Instances you know when you're at work and you have to put on a smile and you know" (Sunstone, 2019).

Sunstone mentioned that there is a lack of communication with the Executive Supervisor, and when speaking of him stated that "when you're a white man in a position of power, why would you have to think about other people and the way you communicate, right? Where as when you're not in power, or you're racialized, or you're "disadvantaged" in some way, you're constantly thinking about; how do I communicate so that this is a safe situation for me so that I'm not penalized" (Sunstone, 2019). At one point, this supervisor yelled at Sunstone and then gave her the silent treatment for a week. Of course, this made Sunstone feel extremely uncomfortable in their workspace. They did not communicate the issues with the organization, and thought it was better to give notice and leave the role.

When Sunstone spoke about the physical environment of their workplace, they mentioned "it was not built for any sort of human life to inhabit it. It is impossible to heat so the upstairs was always sweating and the downstairs was always- I'm in the downstairs- always freezing. To the point where my nose would be cold when I walked in the building, you know when you inhale and you get icicles? It is freaking cold. The concrete floors- so I'm standing all day selling, right? So standing on concrete floors all day...it's a lot" (Sunstone, 2019).

Sunstone mentioned that it was hard to relax working in that space, because there were many breakable items and they were anxious that they could break something. It was also a very open space, where they felt exposed and could not separate themselves from the toxic people working in the space. The retail space where Sunstone worked was a space that was shared by multiple people. "I don't have my own office of anything. It was multiple people used this desk and this space and everyone's constantly wandering in and out of it. So it wasn't my space by any means" (Sunstone, 2019). They did not have their own space and therefore felt they had no agency. "So physically the way it was laid out...I felt very exposed" (Sunstone, 2019). Sunstone could not have any personal items there to make the space feel more comfortable; they only had a coffee mug. There was beautiful Indigenous art in the space, but it was locked away and Sunstone was not able to see it. They did not feel any more or less connected because of their Indigeneity to the space at work. However, Sunstone mentioned finding solace and comfort in the nature just outside of their workplace. When they had conflict, and felt down, they would go into nature to find peace and be grounded.

Sunstone felt that the overall culture within the organization was negative and toxic, and when it came to Indigenous work, it was tokenizing ¹³ reconciliation work, because they were bringing in Indigenous artwork, but not treating their Indigenous staff very well. Sunstone explained that they often feel as though they are walking in two worlds within their workplace. Where they have to learn how to fit within the Eurocentric dominant form of thinking and where their co-workers do not learn anything about the Indigenous worldviews. The management are not interested in having a conversation around Indigenous histories or learning about Indigenous peoples. Sunstone mentioned that within their workplace there is an assumption that Indigenous

-

¹³ Tokenizing: Hiring someone into a position just to have a diverse body within the organization

people all believe the same things. Sunstone also mentions that within this field of work, because it is a small community, if you challenge anyone then you may never have your artwork shown. Sunstone did not feel connected to their Indigeneity at work, and they mentioned that they were the only Indigenous person within the organization and they felt as though they would have a better experience if there were other Indigenous co-workers. Sunstone did talk more than once about needing "to walk the tightrope" and having to "walk in two worlds."

9.1.5 Onyx's story

"I am a person who values deeper friendships and connections. So and I do need people I can go to, to debrief situations that were hard, um, which is, very different than gossiping for the sake of gossiping. Or some of the politics, like getting involved in some of the politics that happen. I think it's so important to have, like your work family, who're the people you have to debrief. Especially in this work, like social work is heavy. And so there's times when I'm sitting with things that I, where, sitting on an island with some of this heavy stuff is not helpful. For my mental health, it's not helpful for how I service" (Onyx, 2019).

I would like to introduce Onyx. The properties of this gemstone are strength, self-control, and discipline. This was acknowledged through the stories that Onyx shared about who they are as an Indigenous person and the in-depth history that they have overcome to be who they are today. The qualities embodied by Onyx were obvious to me through the stories that they shared and the hard work that they have done to be grounded in who they are today

This gemstone identifies as Anishinabek and Acadian European. Onyx mentioned that a connection of culture and relationship had been fostered through their upbringing. Their grandma had been in residential school and the intergenerational trauma affected their family in similar ways to other Indigenous peoples. However, when Onyx was a child they were immersed in ceremony and traditional knowledge and were surrounded by culture. Onyx acknowledged that they are white-passing, meaning that they are a white-looking Indigenous person. There is internalized shame around this, especially around the idea of not being enough as an Indigenous

person. They experienced racism and prejudice as a child and they had internalized that shame and racism. However, Onyx believes that they have a healthy understanding of culture and identity, and when their family was going through hard times, they would harness culture. Onyx mentions that their identity informs how they understand their work, and furthermore informs how they work with families.

In their first year at the University of Waterloo, Onyx was seeking a sense of community and they found that support, understanding, and comfort at the Waterloo Indigenous Student Centre. What made that space feel comfortable was the ability for Onyx to be themselves. They did not have to explain themselves, their history, or educate people on the various questions or knowledge they were interested in. They had a similar feeling of belonging in the Masters of Social Work: Indigenous Field of Study program at Wilfrid Laurier University. They could fully be themselves and did not have to worry about the added labour that informing non-Indigenous peoples takes.

Onyx mentioned that their identity is interconnected with their work, but currently they are in a mainstream organization working with a diverse group of families, not just Indigenous ones. Onyx has worked in both Indigenous and non-Indigenous led organizations, and mentions that their Indigeneity was extremely important to the Indigenous led ones, but tricky to navigate in the non-Indigenous led ones. Onyx spoke about the position they are in now, which is a one-year contract position as a liaison officer in a non-Indigenous led organization. They work with multiple families, and have a variety of teams they work at in different locations. Onyx mentioned, "if they had something that's come up, they can give me a call, I'm accessible to all my schools and I really try, like relationship, I'm really big on that" (Onyx, 2019).

Onyx recognized that they had left a part of self behind or checking themselves at the door, and that they had a hard time wearing earrings and lanyards that expressed their cultural identity while at their workplace. They expressed also having a polarized feeling of being either not enough native or feeling too native. However, Onyx did acknowledge they believed it was important to be able to express their authentic self within their workplace; it was just that they did not feel comfortable to do so.

There are people within their workplace who are more rigid, strict and inflexible—Onyx can morph and chameleon into being that way and fitting into the frame, but it is not what they prefer. "Like if it's going to be someone who's very structured and sticking to timelines and um; we've got a twenty minute block, here's the agenda. Like I can do that and I can like morph and chameleon in there. Is it what I prefer? Probably not. I feel like I'm pretty adaptable. So I could be in any sort of situation but my preference is always just to be very human with people" (Onyx, 2019).

Onyx shared that they value relationship building, deeper friendships and connections. They also acknowledged that relationships look different from person to person, depending on the teams that they work with. There are many different levels of relationships within their workplace from co-workers in multiple schools, to families, to students and other workers. When Onyx first started, they went to every school and introduced themselves, and mentioned that they believe that supportive relationships are the way that they connect with families. When there is a relationship that is already existent between Onyx and a co-worker, they are more vulnerable and have an easier time talking about being stuck or having a bad day. Onyx shares that "touchstone people that you can debrief with, get support from, and can be a sounding board for all of the

experiences that take place within your workplace is essential" (Onyx, 2019) — they believe in the idea of having a work family.

Onyx mentioned that they were the only Indigenous social worker within their workplace, and they felt a disconnect with most of the people that they worked with. When it came to connecting about Indigenous issues, Onyx only had one person that they felt comfortable to go to. This relationship made it easier to be within this workplace. Onyx would professionally consult with this co-worker to debrief about things, and they developed a relationship with this person outside of the workplace. Onyx mentioned that when you are not the only Indigenous person in the workplace and have someone to share the experience with, it makes it less challenging. "It helps to have people that just understand, and you have no need to explain or go into more detail; you share, reflect, debrief and feel a sense of comfort in being understood without explanation" (Onyx, 2019).

Communication in the workplace for Onyx is relational, less rigid, informal, and flexible—transparency is important to them—and they appreciate directness when it comes to their agenda. Onyx mentions that they connect well with people who have flexibility to meet and just have a conversation, and they found that they communicate differently with people who are structured with time lines and twenty-minute blocks. "And I think that's fostered because of culture and the way I was raised. For others who share that same value who don't share my cultural identity, it was likely fostered another way. So it's not to say that just because I'm Indigenous, this is the way I function, but that certainly informs how I do my work and what I value in terms of communication, yeah. And I appreciate honesty and transparency" (Onyx, 2019). Onyx rarely has conflict with anyone, because they are direct in their communication about addressing misunderstandings or conflict right away. Instead of gossiping and talking to

another person about a conflict that took place, Onyx prefers to put it all on the table and deal with it up front.

Onyx mentioned that in the organization that they work for now, and other mainstream organizations they have worked for, there is this idea of "checking yourself at the door" (Onyx, 2019). They also are seeing that tokenizing is taking place with organizations hiring Indigenous workers, and that these organizations are not allowing space for Indigenous ways of being or knowing. They want them to be present as an Indigenous body, for the organization to say that they have done their part in hiring Indigenous people. Essentially checking off a box, but not providing support or understanding to the Indigenous employee experience.

The organization that Onyx works has a variety of locations. They travel from space to space, but Onyx does have their own office in one of the schools that they work in. They mention that they feel lonely after half of the day spent in their office, and mention that it is isolating. Onyx believes that open concept in offices is better because it allows for a more in depth connection with coworkers. Within the physical workspace, there is no one for Onyx to debrief with; they mention that having other social workers to debrief with is essential. At this point in time the organization does not have a specific space for the social workers to be together in one space, they are spread far apart in different buildings. Onyx mentions that being in non-Indigenous spaces is exhausting, because they always having to answer questions and educate other people about Indigenous people. When Onyx is in Indigenous spaces they feel understood, accepted, supported, relaxed, and able to step away and be themselves. Onyx mentions that safe spaces for Indigenous people is essential within organizations, and they were so grateful for the Waterloo Indigenous Student Centre at the University of Waterloo in their post secondary experience.

9.1.6 Amethyst's story

"I didn't plan any of this. It was following the markers along the way and doing my work...by doing my work I mean, restoring my knowledge and having an understanding of who I am. Decolonizing myself, my life long journey and the more I do that, the helpers come along the way can help me do that, and help me make sense of this crazy world that we live in. That sets us up to think that it's us that dysfunctional, it's us that savagely, it's us that inferior. The colonial communication is all about treating us like trespassers in their systems. The communication is oppressive; it's disrespectful and replicates institutional racism" (Amethyst, 2019).

I would now like to introduce Amethyst. The properties of this gemstone are calmness, balance, peace, and intuition. This gemstone has an ability to make people around them feel comfortable, and allows individuals to reflect and converse around important topics without a judgemental approach. That being said, Amethyst is also very matter of fact, and is not afraid to use their voice to keep everything in line with living life in a good way. In listening to Amethyst share their story, it became apparent that they really practiced living a wholistic lifestyle balancing all areas.

Amethyst identifies as half Nish and half British and acknowledges that they come from a place in-between because their mother is full-blood Anishinabek and their father is British.

Amethyst is from Flying Post First Nation. They were raised on the land, with a deep connection to the land, and to all of the ways of being that were taught by their grandparents—who also spoke fluent Anishinabek. "I live consistently, in relationship to creation and the relationship to the trees around me and my awareness of where life comes from, is what makes me Anishinaabe. How I engage in the sacredness of life every day, makes me Anishinaabe. Do I hunt and fish and trap for my way of life? No. I work at the university. But that doesn't mean that I'm not Anishinaabe, because I am" (Amethyst, 2019).

Amethyst is racialized and brown-looking, they always knew they were Indigenous and experienced second-class treatment and racism on the playground and in the classroom as a

child. Amethyst felt a lack of belonging in the academy at all levels because they were one of the only Indigenous students at that time. Amethyst struggled to get through the program alone and felt like quitting many times. Even after finishing the undergraduate and master's programs, Amethyst still did not believe in themselves. After that, they decided they wanted to do their Ph.D., but that they did not want to take a program that was not Indigenous-centered with Indigenous programming or faculty. It was in their Indigenous led Ph.D. program that Amethyst finally felt like they belonged, and felt as though they fit in—in part because of the representation at the front of the classroom.

Amethyst did not learn ceremonies until they were in their 20s while they were doing their undergraduate degree at the University of Waterloo. They actually started the first Indigenous student group, now known as the Indigenous Student Association when they were there. "When I was doing my undergraduate degree. I met- I started meeting other Indigenous people...in this community...and I started going to pow wows, I started going to Elders gatherings. So while I was doing my undergraduate degree I was in university in a mainstream university, paralleled to that I was also doing my Anishinaabe education" (Amethyst, 2019). After being introduced to ceremony it has been a fundamental part of Amethyst's life ever since. Amethyst is a medicine person, knowledge holder, and a ceremony conductor, who continues to impact community members lives in deep and meaningful ways.

Amethyst has held a director position at one of the universities in Canada for thirteen years. Prior to this position, they held many other positions across Canada and at other universities. Amethyst talks about the difference between being an Indigenous person in an organization, and an Indigenous person with an Indigenous centred position. They believe that if someone is hired for an Indigenous centered position in an Indigenous program with Indigenous

faculty, the organization is asking for the change that the person is bringing. That the transformation happens with the organization because of the presence of the person they brought in to make a change. Amethyst speaks of being the "Conscious Indigenous Person," and how it can be frustrating, exasperating, and tiring working in a colonial institution. In previous workplaces, Amethyst had low self-esteem and did not use their voice. Over the years of different experiences, they found their voice and now they use it.

Within the organization and position that Amethyst holds, they build relationships with marginalized groups, the VP, other colleagues, students, and the wider organization. They are working on a small team within a very large organization. "There are different layers within the team, and there's different layers within the university. So I'll go outward in, so if you think about concentric circles, like there's our university, there's our department, and then there's our team. Then there's the individual relationships on the team, there are all these- there will be these different layers within my workplace right now" (Amethyst, 2019). There are seven people on the team, and Amethyst believes that they all have common goals around restoring Indigenous knowledge practices, wholistic healing, and decolonizing. Amethyst has a trusting relationship with the people on their direct team, most of whom are Indigenous. Relationships are hard and Amethyst believes the way that communication and commitment are carried out is important. While colonialism has taken away our voices, circle restores our voices and gives everyone a say.

Communication as a team is in circle and is essential to keep the team functioning in a good way. They do not always agree on everything; they do have conflicts. The circle may go around several times until they arrive at a resolution, but everyone on the team has had a say and has contributed to the process. When there is conflict or misunderstanding amongst the team, it is

all about communication and the circle. If they do not do that then the team process is broken down and becomes fragmented and divided. When the team is disconnected they come together to share about life, and if they have had hurt or wounds happen they do a healing circle, sweat or ceremony. The small team of people who hold similar values, have common goals, and who sit in circle together are what have retained Amethyst in their position for so long. However, Amethyst feels a lack of trust between themselves and the larger institution, and they believe that they do not receive social nurturing at their workplace. Communication with Amethyst by the larger institution is poor, especially when it is around getting or inviting feedback.

Communication with the larger non-Indigenous mainstream players is non-existent and there is very little room for direct feedback. Their team is often getting excluded from the decision-making processes in the wider institution and are told about decisions after the fact. Amethyst believes that by operating in this way, the organization is sending the message that certain people within the institution are more important than others, and that those people's schedules need to be worked around. Unfortunately, this forces Amethyst to be "the squeaky wheel" (Amethyst, 2019), because their team is omitted.

Amethyst understands that they were born into a racist, violent, hostile culture—
Canadian society. In their position, they have a critical gaze on the institution and colleagues and acknowledge that they are not there to make friends with people. They have been fighting structural oppression and institutional racism as an Indigenous person in positions throughout their academic career. "Being Indigenous and about being in Indigenous centered position. I got the Indigenous portfolio to build Indigenous-based programming, teaching Indigenous courses.

Anything that happened at the university that had to do with Indigenous got pigeonholed and sent to me. So in my positions from that point onward, I've generally been representing

Indigenous voices, I've been a portal for Indigenous people to enter and exit into those spaces" (Amethyst, 2019).

The organization that Amethyst works within has various buildings. They reflect on how the structures and buildings keep us divided, intentionally or not—the institution is perpetuating fragmentation. Indigenous people working on the same goals in fragmented buildings and different locations within the same city keep us apart. In the physical the building that Amethyst works, there are multiple floors. They are located on the fourth floor and there are fragmented offices throughout the floor. Amethyst mentions how that does not help them to build relationships and restore connection. Amethyst comments on how the environment within their organization feels sterile, cold, and institutional looking. That the intention of the organization is meant to be 'neutral,' but as a result, it feels like the spaces in their workplace are cold and distant.

When it comes to smudging within the organization that Amethyst works, they mentioned that co-workers outside of their team would come down the hall and say, "it smells like weed," or "did you put in your form saying you were going to smudge?" Amethyst mentions that this communication interaction is oppressive and disrespectful and that it replicated institutional racism. Amethyst says that it is impossible to fill out a form every time that they would like to smudge their space. As Indigenous peoples, although we smudge for ceremony and it can be planned, we also smudge organically as needed. With co-workers micromanaging Amethysts space, and their ability to smudge—it did not foster positive relationships with co-workers who share the space.

For Amethyst, interacting with their organization becomes political because they are constantly pushing the institutional perimeters. Amethyst notes that they are measured against

mainstream standards when being brought in as an Indigenous person. As a result, they have to flip back and forth between self and colonized mindset in the workplace. Outside of their small team, they are only working with people who have a uni-worldview¹⁴. Amethyst mentions that the paradox of working in their organization is like working in the lion's den; it is a colonial instrument that is not easy to change. Amethyst mentions that elitism, colonialism, racism, sexism, patriarchy, and classism are in the forefronts of the minds of players within the organization. An example of institutional racism can be seen as being pulled into the colonial way of doing things. Where, for example, they ask Amethyst to do things a certain way because it fits into their structure.

Amethyst states that if an organization brings in diverse people into positions that they should not have to "check themselves at the door," and transform the space by being who they are. Amethyst talks about how when people are hired from diverse backgrounds, they can often not be their authentic selves. "When we bring people in who come from diverse backgrounds I'll say; don't check yourself at the door, that's why you were hired here. You bring this diversity, you transform the academy based on if you were hired, if we had a posting because we wanted a clown, we hired a clown, and the clown came to work dressed in capris and a t-shirt, we'd be like; who are you? We didn't hire you, we hired a clown, we want you to be who you are. If you're the clown, be the clown. Transform our space by being who you are" (Amethyst, 2019). Amethyst makes a point to say that bringing someone into a position as a token Indian is not okay, and that it was at forty-one years old that they stopped checking themselves at the door because they did not want to be the token Indian.

¹⁴ Uni-world view: Viewing the world from one lens; the opposite of this would be walking in two worlds where we as Indigenous people have to switch depending on if we are with Indigenous or non-Indigenous people

9.1.7 Hematite's Story:

"I feel like I'm not making that much organizational change. Like I'm trying to make change on my team, like when I took over as manager, I'm trying to make it clear to everybody that a mental health day qualifies as a sick day. You don't need a cold to call in for a sick day, if you feel like your mental state is not good for the office, feel free to work from home, or just take the day. Right?" (Hematite, 2019).

I would now like to take the time to introduce the gemstone Hematite. The properties of this gemstone are grounding, clarity and practicality. This gemstone has a scientific and factual based mind in the way that they approached the world. Hematite is very practical, and has a problem solving based mindset, but are also extremely compassionate, and communicative. Hematite is half Chinese and half Mohawk and acknowledges that they were not raised with any Indigenous teachings. It was their Chinese culture from their mother that heavily influenced their way of being, and their Indigenous lineage comes from their father. Records were not kept well within the government, and they had to prove ancestry back to 1900 to get their status. Hematite states that they pass as both Chinese and European, and they often question their identity because they do not know what they are. "It's also been a struggle for me because technically my Indigeneity comes through my father, which is a struggle in a matrilineal society" (Hematite, 2019).

Hematite believes that they know less of the teachings or cultural knowledge in relation to their Indigeneity, and that there is so much of a debacle around pretendians¹⁵. Hematite is proud of their Mohawk heritage, but it is less frequently the topic of conversation with non-Indigenous people. This is because all of the stereotypical topics of conversation come up in relation to being an Indigenous person, for example receiving free schooling or not having to pay taxes. Hematite believes that their family does not understand their identity, but as their own interest in their indigeneity has grown, they have become a resource for their father whose

¹⁵ Pretendians are non-Indigenous people claiming to have Indigenous ancestry

interest in their indigeneity has grown. Hematite has been experiencing joy in educating their father on the history of Indigenous peoples and sharing the knowledge that they are gaining through the reclamation of their Mohawk identity.

Although Hematite is reclaiming their Mohawk identity, they experience an identity crisis all the time, because they feel as though they fit into multiple cultural identities. Hematite states that depending on who you talk to they look Caucasian, Indigenous, and Chinese. However, there are some Chinese people at work that do not think they are Chinese enough, and then there are people who do not think that they are Indigenous enough. When it comes to other Indigenous individuals in the workplace, there is one individual who has shared that they are also Indigenous and Chinese but that they are adopted, and the conversation never went any further than that.

Hematite believes that their Indigeneity affects their experiences at work, and that having a collectivist mindset is in line with being an Indigenous person. Hematite thinks about people outside of themselves, whereas, for the most part, other people in the office are more individual focused. "I definitely have a more collective mind set than most people. Most people in the office are willing to help you if you ask. But their first instinct is to still consider themselves as oppose to; I got this new piece of information how is this going to affect everyone else? Right? It's; oh how can I use this to my advantage" (Hematite, 2019).

Hematite manages their own team, and does not meet with other managers very often.

Hematite believes that collaborating in the workplace is important to increase productivity, and also create more of a collectivist teamwork mindset. Hematite focuses on making the many different types of workplace communication intentional, for both themselves and their team.

Hematite believes that the way that they communicate is significantly different from many other people, and that it tends to be closer to those who grew up in tight knit families.

Hematite mentions that the physical workplace environment is open, but it is not very open. They have offices with doors, rooms with doors, and walls around all of those things. The kitchen has a door so that if people are loud in the lunchroom, then you will not hear that. Within the area of the office where there are cubicles, everyone does have their own little cubical space that allows you to be more connected than if you are in an office with closed doors. Hematite has a neutral feeling around their workplace environment because they do not think that it is the greatest space, but also, they have not worked at one that is better. They do not like how confined it is, and find that there is a lack of an ability to easily connect with others in the workplace due to this confinement. They also mention that the amount of space, the way it is set up, and the comfort for each individual varies throughout the office. The amount is highly dependent upon where you are within the hierarchy of positions within the organization. There is not a space within Hematite's workplace that they can smudge, and they were not even sure they could do it in the open space.

Hematite works within a mainstream organization, this organization carries a western oriented organizational culture that breeds competition, and an individualistic orientation amongst the majority of individuals. Hematite's workplace is a large tech company in Toronto, and is in a management position where they lead their own team to advance on a focused project.

The focus within this organization is tech work. There are several small teams of engineers working on their own projects, that can take several years to complete. As I mentioned above, Hematite is the manager of their own team, and they share that they notice that there is a lack of connection and communication across the teams within the organization. Every team seems to have their own orientation and way of working together, but some of the managers that work within the organization meet on a regular basis if they are doing projects together, but

Hematite does not work with other managers and sticks to their own team. Hematite shares that in their opinion, knowledge is hoarded and that they have a lack of trust of the other departments within the organization.

10.0 Discussion

I focused on the research question, purpose, and goal of this research project while going through the process of making meaning. The information that I shared in the gemstone stories was organized within the Wholistic Organizational Framework.

In this section, layer by layer, the findings will be shared. Working from deep within the core to the outside of the earth's structure. The inner core represents the gemstone and their individual identity, with the theoretical elements of cultural and workplace identity. The outer core represents workplace relationships, with theoretical elements of relationships, emotions, community, and elders. The mantle represents the physical workplace environment, with the theoretical elements being body, place, and space. The crust represents the organizational culture within the workplace, with theoretical elements of the mind. Where the entire earth's structure is the organization, we are starting within the inner core and hearing about the experience of the Indigenous employee within the organization.

The purpose of this research is to find out about the work experiences of Indigenous employees to identify marginalizing barriers and replace these with cultures of safety and trust. I began this project with the research question, how do Indigenous employees' cultural identity, interpersonal relationships, and the workplace environment affect their experience in the workplace?

10.1 Identity

Research suggests that the key to healing following the experience of residential schools and its intergenerational effects lies in the area of reclaiming identity (Alfred & Corntassel, 2005).

Identity reclamation of Native American Ancestry in the United States was something that was taking place back in 1996 (Fitzgerald, 2007), and is still taking place today.

Indigenous people within North America have had their identity torn away by colonization, which means that many people are just beginning to understand their indigeneity (Garroutte, Goldberg, Beals, Herrell, Manson, 2003). There are a variety of reasons why individuals were not raised with their Indigeneity, and are discovering it later in life. This is something I heard consistently throughout my conversations with the gemstones. The reclamation of culture was something that I heard from the majority, if not all of the gemstones.

10.1.1 Reclaiming culture

To date, researchers have barely begun to understand how Indigenous worldviews and identity relate to employment success within the mainstream, western workplace. Culture as a treatment is one of the unique ways that some Indigenous communities are promoting well-being from within, where they promote cultural identity and connectedness as a means of treating and reducing health and social inequalities (Barker, Goodman, & DeBeck, 2017). With the arrival of the Europeans, colonization tried to erase the identity of Indigenous peoples. The ongoing effects of colonization and intergenerational trauma have continued to negatively affect Indigenous peoples throughout the various facets of life.

Therefore, organizations will benefit by helping Indigenous employees reclaim their Indigeneity and by recognizing its value in the workplace. This begins by bringing Indigenous voices to professional organizations like, the Society for Industrial and Organizational Psychology (SIOP) and understanding Indigenous employees' work experiences through respectful and appropriate research methods that align with Indigenous worldviews. Research has shown that Indigenous participants who chose to work within an Indigenous led organization

"felt culturally and emotionally safe being in a place of work that shared their values and ways of being, and felt a like-mindedness between their place of work and their own personal and cultural identity" (Marshall et al, 2012).

Across the majority of the gemstone stories that were shared, each one was disconnected with their culture. That it was not something that they were raised with, and were the ones to bring it back to their family. Participants began the journey of reclaiming culture and formulating their Indigenous cultural identity through an education experience. Amethyst, Lapis Lazuli, and Mookaite share below their journey of reclaiming culture in their early twenties.

Amethyst (2019) shared, "I started meeting other Indigenous people in this community and we started hanging out. They weren't Indigenous people who were doing crazy things. They were Indigenous people who were on- they were activists and they were working on restoring the culture. They're working on building community and that was something that I was interested in. so I started getting involved, I started going to pow wows, I started going to Elders gatherings. So while I was doing my undergraduate degree- I was in university in a mainstream university, paralleled to that I was also doing my Anishinaabe education." In this part of the conversation, both Amethyst and I laughed at our reclamation of Indigeneity taking place within our post-secondary experience.

Lapis Lazuli (2019) shared a similar experience, "I was kind of coming around to my identity but I still wasn't solid in that at twenty-one. That was a real reality for me at the time. I was like; I need to know who I am so I can help my children understand who they are earlier than I had a chance to, right? so yeah that was my journey in immersing myself into anything I could to try to figure who I was as an Indigenous person. I had some really good teachers, some knowledge keepers, and Elders who I would consider my teachers in my identity phase." They

also shared that they do not think that there is ever an end to their identity, and "that I don't think that ever really comes to an end because I'm still uncovering things today about my own identity" (Lapis Lazuli, 2019).

Mookaite also shared that they are still on their journey of learning and gaining knowledge and are thankful for their journey. "I want to say I was either in my twenties when I started to identify with culture and Indigenous teachings at college, that's when I went to Native Community Care Council. I was able to start- I had some really good teachers who I'm with now outside of work, but they were that great support and that solid foundation for me, guiding me in that direction of where I wanted to go" (Mookaite, 2019).

With all three of these gemstone stories surrounding reclaiming culture, they all did it later in life, in a post secondary setting and had been gifted with teachers and guides along the way. The majority, if not all gemstones share this same narrative, and with some of them just finishing post-secondary—they were at the beginning of their reclamation journey when I spoke to them. However, as the gemstones reclaimed and strengthen their Indigeneity, some of them experienced a different conflict within themselves in the workplace.

10.1.2 Identity Conflict/Walking in two worlds

Identity conflict is defined as conflict between the "values, beliefs, norms and demands" inherent in individual and group identities, as well as perceived incompatibilities between two or more of an individual's identity domains (Ashforth & Mael, 1989; Hirsh & Kang, 2016). The literature indicates that role conflict at work is associated with heightened anxiety and reduced job satisfaction, and that in-group/out-group identity conflict is strongly felt by aboriginal peoples when contrasting themselves to those in the mainstream of organizations. The result has been alienation and low retention rates (Hirsh & Kang, 2016; Scott et al., 2011).

More than one of my gemstones shared that conflict exists between their Indigenous cultural identity and the organizational culture within their workplace. Within organizations, employees may abandon aspects of their cultural identity and assimilate to the organizational culture or in them departing from the organization (Julien et al., 2017). Two of the gemstones that I had conversations with actually expressed this struggle of either being who they were as Indigenous people, or assimilating to the organizational culture. When we shared conversation these gemstones were considering leaving their place of employment, and since have exited the organizations that they worked.

In hearing the gemstone stories, some gemstones conformed to the social norms of their workplace, even when these social norms did not align with their own values. The majority of gemstones did experience an incompatibility between their own personal identity, and the organizational identity. Many of them referred to it as, walking in two worlds or walking the tight rope. Lapis Lazuli (2019) shared, "I call it walking the tight rope, I kind of walked that line where I could be Indigenous when it suited me and non-Indigenous when it didn't suit me." For the gemstones who were white passing this would be an easy transition, but those who are visibly Indigenous and experience the racism because of it could not walk in the two worlds in the same way.

Instead of walking in two worlds, some participants spoke that they felt the need to check their Indigeneity at the door. These gemstones worked in non-Indigenous led organizations, where they had to operate outside of their natural ways of being to fit into the organization, and leave their Indigenous self, values, and ways of being behind every time that they go into work, aligning with the mainstream values even when they do not ring true. Turquoise (2019) shared, "I've smudged at home quite a bit, especially coming home from work...um, yeah. Taking off

my suit, I don't know, was very cathartic. Just any time I could take off my suit, it felt like I was shedding layer of myself. It was these expectations that I had, putting on a suit- physically putting on a suit, I realize it was like stepping into this other person that I was supposed to be." In reading this statement that was shared during my conversations with Turquoise, it was apparent that they felt like they were supposed to be another person. That who they were supposed to be at work did not align with who they were at their core as an Indigenous person.

As a result, many of the gemstones have abandoned aspects of their cultural identity at some point throughout their career journey. It may not be within the workplace they are currently working, but each one has experienced it previously within their workplace. One direct example of this was with Lapis Lazuli and smudging, when they mention, "I've smudged and there's nothing saying I can't- I don't because I'm aware of how it might affect other people. Which is then hampering my identity as an Indigenous person because I'm thinking about how it's going to affect other people, right" (Lapis Lazuli, 2019).

Other gemstones that are further along in their career and journey as an Indigenous person in the workplace. "I decided that I wasn't going to check myself at the door anymore. That I wasn't going to check myself at the door and be who they thought I was going to be, because their image of who I was never who we really are. I was going to speak my truth. I believe I have stayed in my position for so long for two reasons, the first is because they do not have to check myself at the door, and they can be fully who they are as an Indigenous person." (Amethyst, 2019). This was just one example, but the majority of the gemstones have examples like this and it was dependent on whether they worked in an Indigenous or non-Indigenous led organization.

The gemstones who worked in an Indigenous-led organization or team had a unifying organizational identity that was in alignment with their own Indigenous identity and values. They shared that they found value in being a part of their team's overall goals and felt valued by the members of their Indigenous coworkers. In this way, the gemstones that worked within the Indigenous led organizations within my research project did not experience an identity conflict.

Within the workplace, having a sense of inclusion is an extremely important aspect for workers wanting to remain at their place of employment (Barak & Cherin, 1998). Another important aspect of workplace experiences to take into consideration when looking at employee satisfaction and well-being is workplace relationships.

10.2 Relationships

Shawn Wilson (2008) mentions in Research is Ceremony, that relationships are fundamental in the lives of Indigenous peoples. A relational way of being is at the heart of what it means to be Indigenous. Indigenous peoples hold a core set of values based upon relationships and collective well-being, which include but are not limited to the land, the water, the animals, the birds, the plants, creator, and much more. As a people, they are sociocentric and live with a deep connection and respect for the natural world, the ancestors, and future generations. This can be seen through the way in which Indigenous employees put family and community ahead of their workplace (Mitchell et al, 2018). A fundamental concept of connecting to relations that extend beyond the human family is seen in the Thanksgiving address for Haudenosaunee people. How we relate to those around us – the water, the winged ones, the four legged, rocks, soil. We are in relationship with all of creation (Rice, 2011).

1/

¹⁶ Sociocentric is defined relationally, and the well-being of the family, band, or community is of central importance (Kirmayer, Brass & Tait, 2000).

Through the conversations with the gemstones, it was apparent that every gemstone felt that the relationships within their workplace were extremely important. That it was essential for them not to be the only Indigenous person working within the organization. However, if they were the only Indigenous person within the organization, they needed to have people to debrief with and have a sense of connectedness with. Onyx (2019) shares that "it didn't matter where I was working in this job I, you still need those touch stone people who support you, who you can debrief with, who can be a sounding board for you. Um, and it has to be mutual, but I think that's a huge piece around just, like that's huge in terms of relationship."

For the gemstones that worked within both Indigenous and non-Indigenous led organizations it was shared that they valued and took the time and space to nurture and strengthen their workplace relationships. With the Indigenous-led organizations it was the organization itself fostering a sense of connectedness and relationality through the organizational culture that is really what kept them in their workplace. Amethyst (2019) shares "We have team sweats to heal, to work on our self. Cause as a team- and that's what's retained me, the team. In terms of faculty retention, having a team and not working in isolation has kept me there. It's been the longest work relationship I've had...and now I'll stay there because I'm really learning about the hills and the valleys of the relationships of the team and I respect all of my colleagues. I don't always agree with them, we don't always see eye to eye, but I respect them all and even if we have different viewpoints...because we have all been impacted by colonialism." Here, it is emphasized that not working in isolation is what retained this employee. Mookaite (2019) shared "we have really healthy relationships in our organization and staff finding. There's a lot of building- relationships building within each unit and as a whole team all together. We have staff days. Relationship building is key and we all as managers and supervisors and front line staff

ensure we have that positive relationship within our staff as well." Mookaite is one of the gemstones who has had a positive workplace experience within an Indigenous led organization because of values like this.

10.2.1 Sense of belonging and connectedness

According to Indigenous worldviews, sense of belonging is an element of relatedness and connectedness (Hill, 2006). For many Indigenous people the term connectedness is defined as a feeling of belonging, of being an important and integral part of the world (Rice, 2011). Linda Tuhiwai Smith shares that to be connected is to be whole, connecting is related to issues of identity and place, to spiritual relationships and community well-being, and it positions individuals in sets of relationships with other people, and with the environment. To be connected is to be whole (Smith, 2012).

When individuals from a diverse background worked with other members that shared the same background, they felt a sense of belonging (Hirsh & Kang, 2016). Amethyst and Mookaite, shared stories of belonging and connection at work, both were on teams that had more Indigenous people than non-Indigenous people. Through what I heard, the sense of belonging did come from working with other members of the same background. As a result, it is imperative that organizations find a way to support Indigenous people to have a sense of belonging and connectedness, and some organizations have already began to do that work. For example, this is happening across Canada as cluster hires, so that there are a number of Indigenous employees as opposed to a select few. Hopefully, this is the beginning of many solutions to create a sense of belonging and connectedness for Indigenous employees within the workplace.

Some of the gemstones had an isolating experience within their organizations, and one of the factors that contributed to this experience was being the only Indigenous employee within their workplace. However, one of the ways that Turquoise shared they maintained a sense of connectedness was through organizing events like, "wellness month and it was just something that we started for this wellness week and every morning we had time to go and do this and it just turned into such a team building exercise. To bring people together, to start your day, to feel fresh, you didn't need your coffee after that. You just felt more connected, grounded, and ready to start your day after just doing a twenty-minute walk around this lake" (2019). They also shared that when they no longer had access to the lake, they found a way to be connected with others through lunches.

Not only does this feeling of connectedness with the individuals within the organization influence the desire to remain within a position within a workplace, it also has a significant impact on their work satisfaction and well-being (Barak & Levin, 2002). The workplace environment is another part of what contributes to satisfaction, well-being, and a sense of belonging for Indigenous employees. If an Indigenous employee does not feel that they belong or that they do not align with the values of the organization they are working for, then their well-being is compromised. This results in the organization being less successful.

10.3 Workplace environment

Territoriality of physical space has been shown to engender a sense of belonging to social groups. In various settings throughout the day, representations of place and space matter.

Maintaining and strengthening the integrity of Indigenous social space is critical to Indigenous self determination (Liu, Aho, & Rata, 2014). Many Indigenous scholars talk about the importance of space, and our connection to the land and the environments that surround us. How they support us, surround us, and sustain us as Indigenous peoples (Kovach, 2008; Absolon, 2010; Wilson, 2008; Tuck & Mckenzie, 2015).

10.3.1 Personal physical space

The gemstones that were able to have their own belongings in their workspace, or were able to make it their own expressed more satisfaction in their space than those who could not. For example, Turquoise, Mookaite, and Lapis Lazuli shared that they appreciated having their own office space. Turquoise found that their office became the social space, and that they had "made my little office my safe space and my sanctuary" (Turquoise, 2019). As I shared conversation with Mookaite, I had the opportunity to see all of the beautiful Indigenous cultural items that they had placed throughout their office. Mookaite shared that a few months after I had entered this space the person who previously occupied the office and position came in and was like "oh my goodness you have stuff on the walls, because previously there was nothing on the walls. He was here for a couple of years before me, like how did he go for that long without any of this?" (Mookaite, 2019).

Whereas Lapis Lazuli (2019) expressed that, "I appreciate the fact that I have an actual office because there's a lot of people who don't. I can have all this stuff, I can hang my dreamcatchers and I can have my smudge bowl and I can have all the medicines, which I do use when I'm doing presentations. However, I do not use it in the way I would like to use it." Lapis Lazuli shared that having their own office and being able to have their cultural items is a positive, but they expressed it would be even better if they could use their drum and smudge freely. Sunstone voiced a similar narrative, however they had a shared office space as a retailer and felt like they had a hard time relaxing, a lack of agency, and did not feel comfortable within their workplace. They did not have the ability to have anything within the space more than a coffee cup, and Sunstone shared the lack of a personal space that added to their dissatisfaction in the workplace.

Identity expression in the workplace is essential for well-being and work satisfaction (Barker, Goodman, & DeBeck, 2017). Through colonization, we as Indigenous people have had our identities ripped away from us, in the name of creating a more civilized way of being for our people. Indigenous people have always had a strong connection to the environment around them, and the structure of large organizations affected their experience of them (Wilson, 2008; Rice, 2005; Tuck & McKenzie, 2015). Identity spaces ¹⁷that validate Indigenous identity are central to the survival and growth of Indigenous values and identity spaces. Constructing identity spaces that support Indigenous identity development or expression is vital. These spaces need to be created and maintained within organizations in collaboration with Indigenous people.

10.4 Organizational Culture

When it comes to Indigenous people in the workforce, it is not enough for employers to do cluster hires, or to include a few Indigenous people into their organization and have them continue to work within a colonial framework. The typical Eurocentric organization does not carry values that align with Indigenous ways of knowing and being. Organizations that can promote a balance of organization-related identities and other related identities may be able to effectively align with the goals of the employee with the productivity goals of the organization (Thatcher & Zhu, 2006).

The findings from the gemstone stories showed there were two different organizational cultural experiences: the wholistic and transactional. These two experiences will be expanded upon below, and were reflected within whether the organization was led with Indigenous values,

¹⁷ Identity spaces: Identity safe spaces where people can be themselves, where their identities are welcomed and excepted (Liu, Aho & Rata, 2014).

83

ways of knowing and had a wholistic approach—or whether the organization was led with Eurocentric capitalistic values of ownership and possession, and had a transactional approach.

This was a direct reflection of the experiences of the gemstones where the organization in which they worked were either led with Eurocentric or Indigenous values embedded within the organizational culture within the gemstones workplaces. What I heard from the gemstones was that throughout life and even when I spoke with them, they were often faced with the choice of either being true to themselves and their values and stepping out of the organization, or leaving their values behind when they head to work and aligning with the overall goals of their workplace.

10.4.1 Wholistic organizational culture

Based on what I heard from the gemstone stories, the two times that the wholistic culture existed within an organization, it was within an Indigenous-led organization or team, which carried Indigenous values, ways of knowing and being. When looking at the way that this is operationalized within an organization, the wholistic organizational culture takes into consideration the humanness of the employee, but also the spiritual and cultural elements as well. It is not expected that an individual will come into work and compartmentalize the rest of their life so they can meet their productivity levels.

10.4.1.1 People before profit.

The gemstones that operated within the wholistic organizational culture were the gemstones that were the most satisfied, felt the most comfortable to be who they were in their Indigeneity and one of them was in their position longer than any of the other gemstones. A wholistic organizational culture prioritizes the person over the profit, and places an emphasis on

supporting employees overall health and wellness. A workplace with this culture supports all of the layers that exist within the wholistic organizational framework.

The gemstones that expressed they worked within an organization that had a wholistic organizational culture shared that they felt supported in their cultural identity, workplace relationships, and their workplace environment. The organizations that they operate within are still working to break down the barriers implemented alongside colonization.

A wholistic organizational culture puts people before profit and prioritizes wholistic values that align with Indigenous people's ways of being and knowing. The gemstones shared that within the workplace this is translated through communication, understanding, trust, collaboration, flexibility, trust, and an overall genuine interest to make things better for the Indigenous community and all of our relations. A workplace with a wholistic organizational culture supports Indigenous cultural identity and development, and employees have the opportunity to sit down in circle regularly or connect one to one to talk things out. Management often has an open door policy, and communication is extremely efficient amongst these teams where there is a collective understanding.

Relationships, relational accountability, responsibility, reciprocity, and respect are all important values of many Indigenous nations. When it comes to conflict resolution, wholistic organizations support taking the time to seek resolution, as opposed to gossiping and perpetuating a toxic work environment.

10.4.2 Transactional organizational culture

A transactional organizational culture is seen in Eurocentric organizations, where the goal is to get the maximum value for the organization itself. The organizations act out of self-interest and

place very little value on any relationships that exist within the organization. The transactional organizational culture tries to get the best out of the situation at the expense of the employees, and views all interactions as transactions. (Emery, 2007). It is the opposite of the wholistic organizational culture, and places productivity levels above the individual. Using the individual as a means to an end.

One gemstone shared within their stories that they felt their experience within the organization was very transactional. "My friend coined a word called: colonial fatigue, and it's so true. You're saying all the right things but put your money where your mouth is because otherwise it's just lip service, right? And we're getting tired. Indigenous workers in mainstream organizations are getting tired of the structures that are set up and we're getting tired of being the spokesperson for Indigenous stuff for the entire board. When it shouldn't be, right? It shouldn't be one person. I've been advocating for years that we need more staff, like we need more people doing the work on the ground. I can't even get out to schools to support Indigenous students which is part of my job" (Lapis Lazuli, 2019).

One of the most common transactional experiences that was experienced by each one of my gemstones in either their current workplace or a previous workplace was the experience of being the Tokenized Indigenous person.

10.4.2.1 Feelings of Tokenism

The Eurocentric capitalistic culture puts the profit before the person. The employee is supposed to come in and do their work, do a good job of it, and leave. It is expected that an individual will come into work and compartmentalize the rest of their life so they can meet their productivity levels with little distractions or hustle. With this organizational culture, any family stuff would

not be supported. This kind of organizational culture does not allow for flexibility, family, and hardly even considers the individual employee.

The isolation, tokenization, and being taken advantage of were a few of the reasons that Amethyst left previous positions. "That's what I call tokenism and that's what getting peoplehiring people just so they can do this job as an Indigenous person is pigeon holing. When they hire the person, and do not allow them to transform the space with their Indigenous ways of knowing and being? To keep reading and developing our mind and decolonizing our mind and Indigenizing our spirit. We have that responsibility and we invest in that, then we won't fall into tokenism. We won't subscribe to being pigeonholed. We'll be able to set boundaries and say; you know what, I'm not here to do your work in instituting the TRC recommendations, that's up for you to figure out, I'm busy doing this. We can set boundaries in a healthy way for ourselves that protects our agenda that protects what we are there to do. But that's our responsibility to know that" (Amethyst, 2019).

11.0 Conclusion

I am honoured to have had the opportunity to sit down and build relationship with the gemstones, to get to know who them, and to hear their stories within their workplaces. After taking the time to work through what was heard, re-storied through the conversations with the gemstones (findings), and processed throughout the entire experience, I took those findings and placed them within the wholistic organizational framework, and made meaning of the different experiences of Indigenous employees. The important themes of identity, relationships, workplace environment, and organizational culture take a wholistic lens when looking at an individuals experience in the workplace. These themes carried equal importance within an organizational experience within both Industrial Organizational and Indigenous literature.

11.1 Limitations/Lessons

11.1.1 Sample size

This research project largely reflected Indigenous employees from the Kitchener-Waterloo area, located in South Western Ontario, in Canada. Although a sample size of seven participants may be seen as a limitation, it should also be viewed as a positive first step of bringing an awareness to the Indigenous employee experience and voices to the workplace. There is diversity within a single community, and even more diversity seen across Nations. It could continue to be a community-centered project that could be spread out across Canada to bring the voices of all nations to this important research.

11.1.2 Findings are not generalizable

All nations are unique and distinct in their own ways, but Indigenous people across the globe share many similar values. These findings do not capture the vast diversity that exists within First Nation, Metis, and Inuit people's employee experiences within organizations. Considering this, the findings are not generalizable to all Indigenous people. However, I do believe that these findings benefit all people that have the opportunity to read these stories. They shed light on beginning of looking at Indigenous people in the workplace. Future research could benefit a larger number of Indigenous people over time, and parallel the different nations to see what kind of similarities exist.

11.2 Recommendations and Future Directions

There was so much information that was captured within the conversations of my gemstones.

The intimate and in depth time that I was able to spend with their stories really allowed me to hear their voices. After sorting through all of the important information that was captured through my making meaning process in relation to Indigenous employees in the workplace, I was able to gather some knowledge around possible future directions.

11.2.1 Truth and Reconciliation recommendations

Call to action #92 is for the business sector specifically asks corporate Canada to adopt United Nations Declaration of Rights of Indigenous Peoples as a reconciliation framework. 92. ii asks businesses to ensure Aboriginal people have equal access to jobs, training, and education opportunities in the corporate sector. 92. iii asks that businesses provide education for management and staff on the history of Indigenous peoples (TRC, 2015).

Through amplifying the voices of Indigenous employees this research is addressing the call to action 92. ii pushing to ensure that Aboriginal people have access to jobs, training, and education opportunities in the corporate sector. I am confident that this work is just the beginning of implementing reconciliation.

11.2.2 History lesson for all non-Indigenous employees

It is important for organizations to recognize and understand the history of Indigenous people in Canada, and the impact that it has on their present well-being. This way there is an understanding around why culture as treatment and not conforming to the organizational identity without strengthening and living one's own cultural identity in the workplace is so important.

Indigenous values also need to be incorporated within the organizational culture, for example wholistic values that consider the entire employee. Where instead of treating an employee as a means to an end and focusing only on productivity, the employer actually cares about the employee's well-being. On a grander scale, or a broader workplace application—it does not harm anybody to having a wholistic experience and everyone, including the organization benefits.

11.2.3 Strengthening culture to increase workplace satisfaction

If Indigenous values are incorporated within the organizational culture of an organization, it would create a supportive environment for Indigenous employees. However, there is a possibility that these values could benefit people of all backgrounds and nationalities within the workplace. Research suggests that when employees' true cultural selves are recognized, validated, and utilized, their overall work experience will be more positive (Chuapetcharasopon, Neville, Adair, Brodt, Lituchy & Racine, 2018, 2017; Swann, Polzer, Seyle & Ko, 2004)).

When considering what well-being means with an Indigenous lens, it is important to take into account all levels of the person in their entirety, and all of the experiences that go with that. There are no negative implications to taking a wholistic approach when looking at the individual or the organization, and as mentioned above, if there was a broader workplace application of a wholistic orientation within an organization, it would benefit the organization and everyone in it.

11.2.4 Creating identity spaces

When organizations are recruiting Indigenous employees to diversify their team, they should build in policies to support identity development, and create Indigenous identity spaces. Making social identity spaces that privilege First Nations people, ideas, and institutional practices is central to the approach to self-determination and cultural healing (Liu et al, 2014). As a result, individuals could hypothesize that if organizations promote balance between organization-related identities and cultural related identities, then it will increase the number of employee's from a diverse background. Identity-related enrichment of office space improves productivity (Greenaway, Thai, Haslam, & Murphy, 2016).

In a system that is already established with deeply rooted colonial policies, programs, and procedures that aimed to destroy Indigenous cultures, it is essential for Indigenous ways of knowing to be valued and included within North American organizations to promote Indigenous employee satisfaction and psychological well-being, and the accompanying positive organizational outcomes (Kirkness & Barnhardt, 1991). Our approach to bringing Indigenous identity and voices to the workplace has been to invite Indigenous employees to share stories about their workplace experiences using Indigenous research methods. Thus, we developed an interview protocol for Industrial-Organizational scholars to use in field research with Indigenous employees and managers.

I set out to explore Indigenous employee experiences in relation to their identity, relationships, and their workplace environment. I brought the voices of seven Indigenous employees to broaden our understanding of employee well-being, satisfaction, and engagement for this underrepresented minority group. I explored the reasons that research shows low job satisfaction, high turnover rate, and a lack of representation of Indigenous peoples in the

workplace (Hsiao, Auld & Ma, 2014; Liao, Chuang, & Joshi, 2008; Racine, 2016; Scott et al., 2011).

11.3 Implications

The implications for this study are in-depth and important for organizations that are seeking to recruit or include Indigenous employees within their workforce. This research can help inform those organizations on the ways in which they can begin to work to create positive workplace environments for Indigenous employees.

This is just the beginning of research that will help to create action for the TRC recommendations. These findings could also inform future research on workplace diversity and for interventions aimed at creating a more inclusive and supportive workplace environments and organizational culture for Indigenous employees. Although Indigenous employee experiences may seem of concern to only a small group of people (i.e.: the Indigenous community), it should in fact concern anyone cares about equity, diversity, and inclusion work because it will benefit anyone that works in an organization that includes diverse ways of being, knowing, and doing.

References

- "About the IPHCC." Indigenous Primary Health Care Council, https://www.iphcc.ca/about/about-the-iphcc/.
- Absolon, K. (2010). Indigenous wholistic theory: A knowledge set for practice. First Peoples Child & Family Review: An Interdisciplinary Journal Honouring the Voices, Perspectives, and Knowledge of First Peoples through Research, Critical Analyses, Stories, Standpoints, and Media Reviews, 5(2), 74-87.
- Absolon, K. (2011). Kaandossiwin: How We Come to Know. Nova Scotia: Fernwood Publications.
- Absolon, K. E. (2016). Wholistic and ethical: Social inclusion with Indigenous peoples. Social Inclusion, 4(1), 44-56.
- Adelson N. The embodiment of inequity: Health disparities in Aboriginal Canada. Canadian journal of public health. 2005 Mar 1;96(2):S45-61.
- Adair, W. L., Buchan, N. R., Chen, X. P., & Liu, D. (2016). A model of communication context and measure of context dependence. Academy of Management Discoveries, 2(2), 198-217.
- Adair, W.L., Kwantes, C., Stonefish, T., & Weir, W. (2017). Conversations about Aboriginal work experiences: Reflections for community members, organizations, and the academy.

 Journal of Aboriginal Economic Development, 10(2), 52-70.
- Allen, B. J. (1995). "Diversity"; and organizational communication.
- Allen, M. (2017). The sage encyclopedia of communication research methods (Vols. 1-4). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications, Inc doi: 10.4135/9781483381411
- Amundson, N. E. (2006). Challenges for career interventions in changing contexts. International Journal for Educational and Vocational Guidance, 6, 3–14.

- Archibald, J. A. (2008). Indigenous storywork: Educating the heart, mind, body, and spirit. UBC press.
- Ashforth, B. E., & Mael, F. A. (1989). Social identity theory and the organization. Academy of Management Review, 14, 20 –39. Indented second lines
- Assembly, U. G. (2007). United Nations declaration on the rights of indigenous peoples. UN Wash, 12, 1-18.
- Ayoko, O. B., & Pekerti, A. A. (2008). The mediating and moderating effects of conflict and communication openness on workplace trust. International Journal of Conflict Management, 19(4), 297-318.
- Baker, K. A. (2007). Organizational communication. Management Benchmark Study, 1-3.
- Barak, M. E. M., & Levin, A. (2002). Outside of the corporate mainstream and excluded from the work community: A study of diversity, job satisfaction and well-being. Community, Work & Family, 5(2), 133-157.
- Barker, B., Goodman, A., & DeBeck, K. (2017). Reclaiming Indigenous identities: Culture as strength against suicide among Indigenous youth in Canada. Canadian Journal of Public Health, 108(2), e208-e210.
- Bartlett, R. H. (1977). The Indian Act of Canada. Buff. L. Rev., 27, 581.
- Barton. (2004). Narrative inquiry: locating Aboriginal epistemology in a relational methodology. Journal of Advanced Nursing, 45(5), 519–526. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2648.2003.02935.x.
- Battiste, M., & Youngblood, J. (2000). Protecting Indigenous knowledge and heritage: A global challenge. ubc Press.

- Baumeister, R. F., & Leary, M. R. (1995). The need to belong: desire for interpersonal attachments as a fundamental human motivation. Psychological bulletin, 117(3), 497.
- Brave Heart, & DeBruyn, L. . (1998). The American Indian Holocaust: healing historical unresolved grief. American Indian and Alaska Native Mental Health Research, 8(2), 60–78. https://doi.org/10.5820/aian.0802.1998.60
- Bradbury, H., & Lichtenstein, B. M. B. (2000). Relationality in organizational research: Exploring the space between. Organization Science, 11(5), 551-564.
- Britannica, T. Editors of Encyclopaedia (Invalid Date). Mohawk. Encyclopedia Britannica. https://www.britannica.com/topic/Mohawk
- Bortolotti, Boscari, S., & Danese, P. (2015). Successful lean implementation: Organizational culture and soft lean practices. International Journal of Production Economics, 160, 182–201. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2014.10.013
- Bougie, E., Kelly-Scott, K., & Arriagada, P. (2013). The education and employment experiences of First Nations people living off-reserve, Inuit, and Métis: Selected findings from the 2012 Aboriginal Peoples Survey. Statistics Canada.
- Bull, J. R. (2010). Research with Aboriginal peoples: authentic relationships as a precursor to ethical research. Journal of Empirical Research on Human Research Ethics, 5(4), 13-22.
- Burgess, J., & Dyer, S. (2009). Workplace mentoring for indigenous Australians: a case study. Equal Opportunities International.
- Carriere, J., & Richardson, C. (2009). From longing to belonging: Attachment theory, connectedness, and indigenous children in Canada. Passion for action in child and family services: Voices from the prairies, 49-67.

- Carter, J., Hollinsworth, D., Raciti, M., & Gilbey, K. (2018). Academic 'place-making': fostering attachment, belonging and identity for Indigenous students in Australian universities. Teaching in Higher Education, 23(2), 243-260.
- Chemers, M., Oskamp, S., & Constanzo, M. (Eds.). (1995). Diversity in organizations: New perspectives for a changing workplace (Vol. 8). Sage Publications.
- Chuapetcharasopon, P., Neville, L., Adair, W. L., Brodt, S. E., Lituchy, T. R., & Racine, A. A. (2018). Cultural mosaic beliefs as a new measure of the psychological climate for diversity: Individual distinctiveness and synergy in culturally diverse teams. International Journal of Cross Cultural Management, 18(1), 7-32.
- Clarke, A. E. (1991). As organizational theory. Social organization and social process: Essays in honor of Anselm Strauss, 119.
- Crossman, Ashley. "Sociology of Work and Industry." ThoughtCo, Aug. 26, 2020, thoughtco.com/sociology-of-work-3026289.
- Cohen, A.P. (Ed.) Belonging: Identity and Social Organisation in British Rural Cultures;

 Manchester University Press: Manchester, UK, 1982.
- Czyzewski, K. (2011). Colonialism as a broader social determinant of health. International Indigenous Policy Journal, 2(1).
- Dussault R, Erasmus G. Report of the royal commission on aboriginal peoples. Volumes 1-5.
- Dutton, J. E., Roberts, L. M., & Bednar, J. (2010). Pathways for positive identity construction at work: Four types of positive identity and the building of social resources. Academy of management review, 35(2), 265-293.
- Duran, B., & Duran, E. (2000). Applied postcolonial clinical and research strategies. Reclaiming Indigenous voice and vision, 86-100.

- Eagly, A. H., & Chaiken, S. (1993). The psychology of attitudes. Harcourt Brace Jovanovich College Publishers.
- Emery, C. R., & Barker, K. J. (2007). The effect of transactional and transformational leadership styles on the organizational commitment and job satisfaction of customer contact personnel.

 Journal of organizational culture, communications and conflict, 11(1), 77.
- Escalera-Reyes, J. (2020). Place attachment, feeling of belonging and collective identity in socioecological systems: Study case of Pegalajar (Andalusia-Spain). Sustainability, 12(8), 3388.
- Esty, Katharine, Richard Griffin, and Marcie Schorr-Hirsh (1995). Workplace diversity. A manager's guide to solving problems and turning diversity into a competitive advantage. Avon, MA: Adams Media Corporation.
- First Nations Centre. (2007). OCAP: Ownership, Control, Access and Possession.

 Sanctioned by the First Nations Information Governance Committee, Assembly of First Nations. Ottawa: National Aboriginal Health Organization.
- Fitzgerald, K. J. (2007). Beyond white ethnicity: Developing a sociological understanding of Native American identity reclamation. Lexington Books.
- Frost, S. (2018). How diversity (that is included) can fuel innovation and engagement—and how sameness can be lethal. Strategic HR Review.
- Gagnon, Gregory O. Culture and Customs of the Sioux Indians. Santa Barbara, CA: Greenwood, 2011. Print.
- Garroutte, E. M., Goldberg, J., Beals, J., Herrell, R., Manson, S. M., & AI-SUPERPFP Team. (2003). Spirituality and attempted suicide among American Indians. Social science & medicine, 56(7), 1571-1579.

- Green, K. A., López, M., Wysocki, A., & Kepner, K. (2002). Diversity in the Workplace:

 Benefits, challenges, and the required managerial tools. The University of Florida, 1(4), 1-3.
- Greenaway, K. H., Thai, H. A., Haslam, S. A., & Murphy, S. C. (2016). Spaces that signal identity improve workplace productivity. Journal of Personnel Psychology.
- Government of Canada, S. C. (2021, December 1). Study: Indigenous youth in Canada. The Daily . Retrieved December 6, 2021, from https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/daily-quotidien/211201/dq211201b-eng.htm.
- Hagerty, B. M., Lynch-Sauer, J., Patusky, K. L., Bouwsema, M., & Collier, P. (1992). Sense of belonging: A vital mental health concept. Archives of psychiatric nursing, 6(3), 172-177.
- Hatcher, A., Bartlett, C., Marshall, A., & Marshall, M. (2009). Two-eyed seeing in the classroom environment: Concepts, approaches, and challenges. Canadian Journal of Science,

 Mathematics and Technology Education, 9(3), 141-153.
- Hemphill, H., & Haines, R. (1997). Discrimination, harassment, and the failure of diversity training: What to do now. Greenwood Publishing Group.
- Henry, E., & Foley, D. (2018). Indigenous research: ontologies, axiologies, epistemologies, and methodologies. In Handbook of research methods in diversity management, equality, and inclusion at work. Edward Elgar Publishing.
- Hill, D. L. (2006). Sense of belonging as connectedness, American Indian worldview, and mental health. Archives of Psychiatric Nursing, 20(5), 210-216.
- Hirsh, J. B., & Kang, S. K. (2016). Mechanisms of identity conflict: Uncertainty, anxiety, and the behavioral inhibition system. Personality and Social Psychology Review, 20(3), 223-244.
- Hogg, M. A., & Terry, D. I. (2000). Social identity and self-categorization processes in organizational contexts. Academy of management review, 25(1), 121-140.

- Hsiao, A., Ma, E., & Auld, C. (2014). Organisational attractiveness in the Taiwanese hotel sector: Perceptions of indigenous and non-indigenous employees. Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Management, 21, 116-126.
- Julien, M., Somerville, K., & Brant, J. (2017). Indigenous perspectives on work-life enrichment and conflict in Canada. Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion: An International Journal.
- Juntunen, C. L., Barraclough, D. J., Broneck, C. L., Seibel, G. A., Winrow, S. A., & Morin, P. M. (2001). American Indian perspectives on the career journey. Journal of Counseling Psychology, 48(3), 274.
- Juntunen, C. L., & Cline, K. (2010). Culture and self in career development: Working with American Indians. Journal of Career Development, 37(1), 391-410.
- Kirmayer, L. J., Brass, G. M., & Tait, C. L. (2000). The mental health of Aboriginal peoples:

 Transformations of identity and community. The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry, 45(7), 607-616.
- Kirkness, V. J., & Barnhardt, R. (1991). First Nations and higher education: The four R's— Respect, relevance, reciprocity, responsibility. Journal of American Indian Education, 1-15.
- Knight, C., & Haslam, S. A. (2010). Your place or mine? Organizational identification and comfort as mediators of relationships between the managerial control of workspace and employees' satisfaction and well-being. British Journal of Management, 21(3), 717-735.
- Kovach, M. (2021). Indigenous methodologies: Characteristics, conversations, and contexts.

 University of Toronto press.
- Laing, A., F. Duffy, D. Jaunzens and S. Willis (1998). New Environments for Working. London: Construct Research Communications.

- Liao, H., Chuang, A., and Joshi, A. (2008), "Perceived deep-level dissimilarity: personality antecedents and impact on overall job attitude, helping, work withdrawal, and turnover," Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, Vol. 106 No. 2, pp. 106-124.
- Liu, J. H., Aho, K. L. T., & Rata, A. (2014). Constructing identity spaces for First Nations people: Towards indigenous psychology of self-determination and cultural healing.Psychology and Developing Societies, 26(2), 143-153.
- Luffman, J. and Sussman, D. (2007), "The Aboriginal labour force in Western Canada," Perspectives on.
- Luhmann, N. (1992). What is communication?. Communication theory, 2(3), 251-259.
- MacDonald C, Steenbeek A. The impact of colonization and western assimilation on health and wellbeing of Canadian Aboriginal people. International Journal of Regional and Local History. 2015 May 1;10(1):32-46.
- Markus, H. R., & Kitayama, S. (1991). Culture and the self: Implications for cognition, emotion, and motivation. Psychological review, 98(2), 224.
- Marshall, Stewart, S. L., Popadiuk, N. E., & Lawrence, B. C. (2012). Walking in Multiple Worlds: Successful School-to-Work Transitions for Aboriginal and Cultural Minority Youth. In Cultural and Social Diversity and the Transition from Education to Work (pp. 185–201). Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-5107-1_10
- Mills, S. (2011). The difficulty with diversity: White and aboriginal women workers' representations of diversity management in forest processing mills. Labour/Le Travail, 45-76.
- Mitchell, Thomas, D., & Smith, J. A. (2018). Unsettling the Settlers: Principles of a Decolonial Approach to Creating Safe(r) Spaces in Post-secondary Education. American Journal of Community Psychology, 62(3-4), 350–363. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajcp.12287

- McPhee, D., Julien, M., Miller, D., & Wright, B. (2017). Smudging, connecting, and dual identities: a case study of an aboriginal ERG. Personnel Review, 46(6), 1104-1119.
- Moyser, M. (2017). Aboriginal People Living Off-Reserve and the Labour Market: Estimates from the Labour Force Survey, 2007-2015. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 71-588-X.

 Ottawa, Ontario. 26 p. Retrieved from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/71-588-x/71-588-x2017001-eng.pdf
- Mujtaba, B. (2007). Workforce diversity management: Challenges, competencies and strategies (pp. 207-229). Llumina Press.
- Nakata, M. (2007). The cultural interface. The Australian journal of Indigenous education, 36(S1), 7-14.
- National Aboriginal Economic Development Board, (2015). Aboriginal economic progress report. Retrieved from http://cfarsociety.ca/wp-content/uploads/2015/04/NAEDB-progress-report-june-2015.pdf
- Neville, H. A., Oyama, K. E., Odunewu, L. O., & Huggins, J. G. (2014). Dimensions of belonging as an aspect of racial-ethnic-cultural identity: An exploration of indigenous Australians. Journal of counseling psychology, 61(3), 414.
- Newby, J. M., McKinnon, A., Kuyken, W., Gilbody, S., & Dalgleish, T. (2015). Systematic review and meta-analysis of transdiagnostic psychological treatments for anxiety and depressive disorders in adulthood. Clinical psychology review, 40, 91-110.
- Nieuwenhuis, M., Knight, C., Postmes, T., & Haslam, S. A. (2014). The relative benefits of green versus lean office space: Three field experiments. Journal of Experimental Psychology: Applied, 20(3), 199.

- Oldford, & Ungerleider, C. S. (2011). Aboriginal self-identification and student data in Ontario's postsecondary system challenges and opportunities. Higher Education Quality Council of Ontario.
- Paradies Y. Colonisation, racism and indigenous health. Journal of Population Research. 2016 Mar 1;33(1):83-96.
- Ong, B. N., Richardson, J. C., Porter, T., & Grime, J. (2014). Exploring the relationship between multi-morbidity, resilience and social connectedness across the lifecourse. Health:, 18(3), 302-318.
- Patrick Walton, Robert Byrne, Natalie Clark, Michelle Pidgeon, Mike Arnouse, & Kristen Hamilton. (2020). Online Indigenous University Student Supports, Barriers, and Learning Preferences. International Journal of E-Learning & Distance Education, 35(2), 1–45.
- Pendakur, K., & Pendakur, R. (2002). Colour my world: have earnings gaps for Canadian-born ethnic minorities changed over time?. Canadian Public Policy-Analyse de Politiques, 28(4), 489-512.
- Penley, L. E., & Hawkins, B. (1985). Studying interpersonal communication in organizations: A leadership application. Academy of Management Journal, 28(2), 309-326.
- Peter, M. Z., Peter, P. F. J., & Catapan, A. H. (2015). Belonging: Concept, meaning, and commitment. US-China Education Review, 5(2), 95-101.
- Pranis, K., Stuart, B., & Wedge, M. (2013). Peacemaking circles: From crime to community. Living Justice Press.
- Racine, A. A. (2016). Bicultural Identity Integration at Work: Effects of Identity Conflict on
 Role Conflict Perceptions and Exhaustion. Master's thesis submitted to University of
 Waterloo, Ontario, Canada. Accessed at: https://uwspace.uwaterloo.ca/handle/10012/10520.

- Reading CL, Wien F. Health inequalities and social determinants of Aboriginal peoples' health.

 Prince George, BC: National Collaborating Centre for Aboriginal Health; 2009 Mar 26
- Rice, B. (2011). Relationships with human and non-human species and how they apply toward peacebuilding and leadership in indigenous societies. Critical issues in peace and conflict studies: Theory, practice, and pedagogy, 199-215.
- Richmond CA, Cook C. Creating conditions for Canadian aboriginal health equity: the promise of healthy public policy. Public Health Reviews. 2016 Dec 1;37(1):2.
- Salmon, E. (2000). Kincentric ecology: indigenous perceptions of the human–nature relationship. Ecological Applications, 10(5), 1327-1332.
- Scott, K.A., Heathcote, J.M. and Gruman, J.A. (2011), "The diverse organization: finding gold at the end of the rainbow", Human Resource Management, Vol. 50 No. 6, pp. 735-755.
- Simon, C. (2021, November 29). Indigenous nations should be seen as experts on false claims of identity. Broadview. Retrieved December 6, 2021, from https://broadview.org/indigenous-identity/
- Sinclair, R. (2007). Identity lost and found: Lessons from the sixties scoop. First Peoples Child & Family Review: A Journal on Innovation and Best Practices in Aboriginal Child Welfare Administration, Research, Policy & Practice, 3(1), 65-82.
- Smith, L. T. (1999). Decolonizing methodologies: Research and indigenous peoples. Zed Books Ltd..
- Stets, J. E., & Burke, P. J. (2000). Identity theory and social identity theory. Social psychology quarterly, 224-237.
- Stephens C, Porter J, Nettleton C, Willis R. Disappearing, displaced, and undervalued: a call to action for Indigenous health worldwide. The lancet. 2006 Jun 17;367(9527):2019-28.

- Tessaro, D., Restoule, J. P., Gaviria, P., Flessa, J., Lindeman, C., & Scully-Stewart, C. (2018). The five R's for indigenizing online learning: A case study of the First Nations schools' principals course. Taylor, S., & Spicer, A. (2007).
- Time for space: A narrative review of research on organizational spaces. International Journal of Management Reviews, 9(4), 325-346. Thatcher, S. M., & Zhu, X. (2006).
- Changing identities in a changing workplace: Identification, identity enactment, self-verification, and telecommuting. Academy of Management Review, 31(4), 1076-1088. Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada.
- Honouring the truth, reconciling for the future: Summary of the final report of the Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada. Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada; 2015.
- Tuck, E., & McKenzie, M. (2014). Place in research: Theory, methodology, and methods. Routledge.
- Uolamo, N., & Ropo, A. (2015). Leading employee wellbeing by workspace experiences.
 Leadership in Spaces and Places, 87-105Venkataramani, V., Labianca, G. J., & Grosser, T.
 (2013). Positive and negative workplace relationships, social satisfaction, and organizational attachment. Journal of applied psychology, 98(6), 1028. Verbos, A. K., Kennedy, D. M.,
- Gladstone, J. S. (2011). "Coyote was walking...": management education in Indian time. Journal of Management Education, 35(1), 51-65.
- Weaver, H. N. (2001). Indigenous identity: what is it, and who really has it?. American Indian Quarterly, 25(2), 240-255.
- Weaver, J. (2000). Indigenousness and indigeneity. A companion to postcolonial studies, 221-35.

Weber-Pillwax, C. (2001). What is Indigenous research? Canadian Journal of Native Education, 25(2), 166. Wilson, D., & Macdonald, D. (2010). The income gap between Aboriginal peoples and the rest of Canada. Ottawa: Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives.

Wilson, S. (2008). Research is ceremony: Indigenous research methods. Fernwood

Publishing.Wilson, S. (2001). Self-as-relationship in Indigenous research. Canadian Journal
of Native Education, 25(2), 91.